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At Bomaid, we view Medical Cover 
as an integral part of life in the 
21st century and as such aligning 
this premise to our vision helps 
us offer our clients, products and 
services that compliment their 
lives on a continual basis.
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Board of Trustees Profiles

Gratian rutta
Board Chairperson

dr Gratian Rutta received an accounting 
and finance degree from the now St 
augustine University of Tanzania in 1978. he 
pursued and passed certified Public account 
professional degree and was registered as 
an authorized accountant in 1980. he was 
later admitted as a fellow certified Public 
accountant (fcPa)  and has been in practice 
for over 35 years. he received his mSc finance, 
majoring in financial management in 1987 , 
and a doctorate in international finance in 
1991 from mei School of management in 
cambridge, massachusetts, USa.  

Gratian has 28 years’ experience in 
international finance, financial planning 
& budgeting, risk management, project 
management, management accounting and 
auditing. he worked for the Government of 
Tanzania at the Treasury, as an assistant 
accountant General-National accounts, 
assistant account-ant General-financial 
Systems rising to deputy   accountant General 
for 15 years, and for UNdP as management 
consultant and advisor, RiPS integrated 
support Programme funded by World bank as 
financial management consultant up to 2000 
he later in September 2001 joined Sadc in 
budget and finance department.  Since 2008 
he has been working as the Senior finance 
officer - management accounting for the 
Southern african development community 
(Sadc) in Gaborone.

Ofentse Mabote
Trustee

ofentse mabote has worked as an accountancy 
and finance professional for 20 years, 
growing from a Graduate Trainee to executive 
positions including company Secretary, chief 
financial officer and finance director in the 
Telecommunications, insurance, Security and 
now postal industries. during his career, 
ofentse has been instrumental in a number of 
change management projects, integration of 

management information systems, financial 
systems designs and implementation, start-
up projects and turn around strategies.
ofentse has held several board and Trustee 
memberships for G4S botswana limited, 
G4S facilities management limited and bic 
Retirement fund and has also served as a 
chairman of the board of Trustees for G4S 
Pension fund

ofentse is a ba (economics & accounting) 
graduate of the University of botswana, a 
fellow of the botswana institute of chartered 
accountants (fca), an associate member 
of chartered institute of management 
accountants (acma) and a chartered member 
of Global management accountants (cGma)’

Emmanuel Maite
Trustee

emmanuel maite has a master’s degree in 
human Resources management from Rutgers, 
The State University of New Jersey (USa) 
which he obtained in 2000 and bachelors 
degree in Public administration from 
University of botswana, conferred in 1996. 
his experience spans a period of 14 years in 
Senior and executive management roles. he 
was previously head of human Resources 
at bamb, de beers prospecting, botswana 
Savings bank, University of botswana and 
botswana development corporation. he also 
served as the General manager responsible 
for botswana development corporation’s 
Subsidiaries. he is currently pursuing private 
business in a number of key sectors of the 
economy.

he has served in the boards of directors of 
mashatu Nature Reserve (Pty) ltd, lionPark 
amusement Park (Pty) ltd, Phakalane 
Property development (Pty) ltd and the 
human Resources committee of hRdc. he is 
currently human Resources exert advisor of 
the PPadb board of directors. 

he brings to the bomaid board room a wealth 
of knowledge and experience derived from the 
complex and challenging strategic corporate 
environments from which he operated over 
the years. he brings on board a unique mix 
of human resources and business knowledge 
and expertise.

Pelani Siwawa-Ndai
Trustee

Pelani Siwawa-Ndai obtained bachelor’s 
and master’s degrees in economics from 
the Universities of botswana and Kent 
at canterbury (UK) in 1986 and 1990, 
respectively.  She has many years of central 
banking experience and has served in 
a business sector environment as chief 
economist/Policy analyst in the early 1990s.  
ms Siwawa-Ndai joined bank of botswana as 
Trainee economist in the Research department 
in 1986 and progressed to serve in different 
capacities, including Principal economist and 
deputy director in the Research and banking 
Supervision departments in 1999 and 2005, 
respectively.  She is head of Secretariat, a 
position she has held since 2010.

Evelyn Disele
Trustee

evelyn disele obtained an mSc in human 
Resource management from the University 
of Salford, UK, in 2004 and a bachelor’s 
degree in Social Sciences with majors in 
Public administration and accounting 
from the University of botswana in 1996. 
She is currently the human Resource and 
administration manager at Water Utilities 
corporation (WUc), a position she has held 
for the past four years. Prior to joining 
WUc she worked for the public service for 
fourteen years, primarily in the area of 
human Resource and administration, having 
joined as an administration officer in 1997. 
She progressed up the ranks until she left 
the service in 2011 while serving as hospital 
manager (finance and administration). She 
is currently the alternate chairperson of 
the board of Trustees of the Water Utilities 
corporation Pension fund.
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Moraki Mokgosana
Principal Officer

moraki mokgosana has been involved in 
the medical aid industry since 2005 and 
served as a board member and chairperson 
of metropolitan health botswana (Pty) 
ltd until November 2013. moraki has held 
leadership positions with G4S botswana 
limited, collection africa limited and 
credit Reference bureau where he served as 
managing director. he worked as a business 
development executive for botswana 
international financial Services centre (now 
biTc) and has also held various accounting 
positions with different multinationals. 

he is a Trustee of the Kabelano Trust, 
Tshwaragano adventure Trust and also 
serves on the boards of the botswana 
meat commission and botswana couriers 
and logistics. moraki holds a bachelor of 
commerce (accounting) degree from the 
University of botswana and a master of 
business leadership from the School of 
business leadership at the University of 
South africa.

Thabo Silitshena
Trustee

Thabo Silitshena is currently Vice President: 
head of Global clients at barclays bank in 
the corporate & investment banking (cib) 
division. Thabo joined barclays in 2005 as a 
Performance analyst in the bank’s operations 
division. he subsequently served the bank as 
Risk & Governance Performance improvement 
manager and, thereafter, joined the managing 
director’s office as chief of Staff in 2009 - a 
role he held until april 2014 when he moved 
to the bank’s cib division. Prior to joining 
barclays. Thabo worked as an audit officer 
at Grant Thornton. Thabo has a bachelor 
of commerce degree from the University 
of melbourne and has completed a number 
of management development programmes 
notably with the University of Stellenbosch 
and duke corporate education.

Ditshetsa Makepe
Trustee

ditshetsa makepe is a corporate attorney, 
having received her bachelor of laws degree 
from the University of botswana in 1998. 
ditshetsa has over 16 years’ experience in the 
legal profession, with a strong background 
in corporate commercial law and a sound 
grounding in the corporate governance and 
board secretary field.

She has worked as private practicing attorney, 
as a legal investigator for the office of the 
ombudsman, and also headed the legal 
and board Secretary functions for the local 
enterprise authority and, now, the botswana 
Power corporation.

Oathokwa Nkomazana 
Trustee

dr. oathokwa Nkomazana is the associate 
Program director at the University of 
botswana faculty of medicine, and an 
adjunct associate Professor of medicine at 
the University of Pennsylvania. She received 
her medical degree from the University of 
Glasgow in 1993 and has more than twenty 
years of public health services experience 
in botswana, South africa and the United 
Kingdom. She was superintendent of the 
Princess marina hospital from 2004 to 2005. 

She is a fellow of the college of 
ophthalmologists of South africa having 
received training at the Universities of 
cape Town and bloemfontein: 1996-2001. 
dr Nkomazana is also a public health 
practitioner. She holds an mSc in community 
eye health from the london School of hygiene 
and Tropical medicine, 2006.

oathokwa worked as the country director 
for the University of Pennsylvania. She was 
among the founding members in the faculty 
of the School of medicine where she has 
served in a number of leadership positions 
including acting head of School, associate 
dean for education and coordinator of the 
phase ii curriculum.

internationally, dr. Nkomazana was a 
member of the Who Guidelines development 
Group for the Who/PePfaR initiative on 
scaling up transformative medical nursing 
and midwifery education. 

dr Nkomazana is the Principal investigator 
for a number of externally funded projects 
ranging in value from € 300  000 to 
$10 000 000. her research focus is on public 
health ophthalmology, medical education and 
human resources for health.

Lydia Andries
Trustee 

lydia andries joined the botswana institute 
of bankers as executive director and ceo 
having previously been the ceo of hollard 
life botswana (Pty) ltd. She has headed the 
Group Strategy and communications division 
for letshego (Pty) ltd, following a long career 
in banking and insurance, dating back to 
1997.

lydia is highly skilled in business development, 
strategic thinking, innovation and relationship 
management. She holds an mSc in Strategic 
management from the University of derby, 
and an mSc in actuarial Science from the 
University of Kent at canterbury, UK. She 
joined the board in october 2015, and sits 
on the finance, Risk and audit committee 
and the benefits, appeals and Service Quality 
committee. lydia is an independent Non-
executive board member of the botswana 
land board, local authorities and health 
Workers Union (bllahWU).
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Chairman’s Report

A number of important refinements to the
restructured model have been identified and
are ready for implementation.

The revised strategy also includes targets for 
product and pricing innovation, framed by a 
balanced Scorecard approach, with a view of 
achieving an optimal balance between the 
customer experience, people, processes and 
financial performance. With improved customer 
service and member satisfaction at the forefront 
of the revised strategy, we have employed 
actuarial consultants in order to better evaluate 
our risk and products pricing. This introduces a 
new perspective in the design of our products and 
supports our efforts to offer a competitively priced 
product to our current and future membership.

The implementation of the revised strategy, which 

was shared with the membership at the last AGM, has 

continued in 2015, guiding the transition to the new 

structure. A number of important refinements to the 

restructured model continue to be introduced to the 

operations of Bomaid.

 
The core targets of the strategy remain as before:

•	 To	achieve	10%	annual	growth	in	revenue.

•	 To	grow	reserves	by	10%	per	annum.

•	 To	achieve	5%	annual	growth	in	membership
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Chairman’s Report [continued]

managing the decentralisation of 
functions to subsidiaries has been critical 
to the bomaid board in order to allow 
for an optimal degree of independence 
for these entities, without abdicating 
from its duties to the members. in order 
to strengthen oversight of subsidiaries, 
streamline the governance processes, 
and to further align with the over-
arching strategic direction of the fund, 
bomaid, as the shareholder in Southview 
(PTY) ltd, adopted a revised constitution 
for this fully owned subsidiary in 2015. 

The inherent conflict of having Southview 
as a subsidiary and a service provider will 
continue to pose a challenge to the fund 
and will require a swift resolution after a 
re-assessment of our corporate structures 
including administration, governance and 
investment management. These will have 
to be re-examined in order to understand 
the effect on the core business and 
financial well-being of bomaid against 
the backdrop of an evolving regulatory 
environment. critical to this introspection 
will be a frank and proactive engagement 
and assessment of the performance, not 
only of our administrators, but also of 
our investment arm. 

There has been notable success in the 
introduction of new revenue streams at 
Southview and its subsidiaries through 
the rollout of pharmaceuticals and the 
integrated health care model to augment 
the medical aid fund administration 
services. This model, which is largely 
predicated on the transferring of services 
that were previously performed in-
house to subsidiaries, has highlighted 
operational and financial inefficiencies 
- including tax leakages. in addition 
to the above, the business case for 

alpha access has been under constant 
spotlight by my board and, despite 
securing contracts from the botswana 
Government, debswana and the South 
african government, the operation has 
been unable to sustain the margins that 
are necessary to keep it in business.

2015 Summary

Impairment of Investments in 
SouthView

at the end of 2015, a review was 
conducted on the carrying amounts of 
bomaid’s investment in Southview. These 
investments, which were carried at cost, 
were found to be overvalued by a total 
of P25m and an impairment loss was 
passed through the scheme’s accounts. 
These impairments were arrived at after 
it was noted that the profitability and 
cash flows of subsidiaries fell significantly 
below expectations. 

alpha access’ performance is attributable 
to the business operating from 2013 to 
the commencement of 2014 without 
generating any sales due to delays in 
quality control accreditation and the 
award of key contracts. This was further 
compounded by the high cost base of the 
latex manufacturing company against 
products from other markets.

mRi botswana embarked on a rapid 
expansion drive in 2014 and 2015 that 
has resulted in revenue growth being 
outpaced by the growth in the cost 
base of the company. This resulted in 
shrinking operating margins over the 

in light of the evolving competitive 
landscape, bomaid must continue to be 
wary of industry trends and constantly 
monitor the risks that new challenges 
pose in the market. These will, invariably, 
affect subscriptions income, healthcare 
and non-healthcare costs, and continue 
to exert pressure on the performance of 
the fund. 

a crucial question arising from the 
revision was whether the new structure 
would be sustainable and prove to be 
adequate to fully implement the strategy. 
To this end, the board has continually 
had to consider striking a balance in 
resourcing the operations of bomaid 
through a combination of full time 
personnel and the use of outsourced 
expert consultants. 

With the various management and 
board structures across the group, the 
consultative process, inevitably, slows 
down the pace of organisational change 
& stategy implementation. adaptation 
by personnel to new processes, and 
living the promise of our new corporate 
identity, with a renewed focus being 
placed on facilitating a swift transition, 
will be key for the future. 

constant re-evaluation of financial 
processes continues to improve our 
efficiency and promote cost effectiveness 
and enhanced management support 
and decision making. The adoption of 
our new investment strategy policy has 
provided for active management of our 
asset portfolio to maximise returns on 
these reserves. following the adoption of 
the new strategy, an asset redistribution 
process commenced and was completed 
in 2015. asset manager mandates were 
also renegotiated to align to the new 
strategy. 
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period. Southview suffered a shrinkage 
in margins as costs escalated, while 
bomaid, which provides its single 
largest source of revenue, moved to 
curb non-health care costs to protect 
the financial performance of the fund. 
This was against the backdrop of 
escalating health care costs in the wake 
of enhanced benefits, and a rise in the 
disease burden on the fund.

The bomaid board has moved swiftly 
to appoint a consultancy to perform a 
scan of opportunities for performance 
improvement at Southview and mRi, 
while considering the options available 
at alpha access. in addition to the 
aforementioned, the scan will review 
the structures at Southview to ensure 
that they enable optimal financial 
performance across the group with 
regard to intercompany transactions.

Performance

in 2015 the Society managed to exceed 
its revenue growth target, posting a 
healthy	 increase	 in	 income	 of	 11.9%	
over the prior year, while consolidated 
income	growth	of	10.4%	to	P534m.	This	
is significant in the light of the prevailing 
challenging economic circumstances 
and that it comes after the conclusion 
of the ministry of health Public Private 
Partnership contract, which had been a 
sizeable contributor in the past. 

expansion in the mRi footprint and 
service offering has yielded revenue 
growth	of	103%	in	2015.	However	this	
was	offset	by	a	107%	increase	in	costs	
during the same period. administration 
costs	 rose	 to	 87%,	 highlighting	
the importance of tightening cost 
management. Gross margins declined 

from	24%	in	2014	to	22%	in	2015	and	
operating	 profit	 dropped	 from	 7%	 to	
2%.	 Efforts	 will	 therefore	 be	 focused	
on enhancing cost control efficiencies 
while ensuring that business expansion 
occurs at desirable margins. While 
the costs of Prime health Pharmacy 
continue to grow, revenues have not yet 
matched expectations. our anticipation 
is that costs will be rationalised with 
expanding operations and efficiencies 
realised across the board in 2016 and 
beyond, resulting in improved margins.

as a result of identifying and tightening 
gaps in operations, administration and 
investment management, our deficit 
before impairment has improved from 
P10.1m in 2014 to P1.98m in 2015. 

Membership

While	memberships	increased	by	only	2.1%,	this	must	be	seen	in	the	context	of	a	
depressed local economy and a botswana industry average increase of medical aid 

memberships	of	only	1.3%.
 

2014 2015 % Change

Memberships 37,374 38,166 2.1%

Lives covered 81,641 83,199 1.9%

Subscription Income P427.5m P486.3m 13.8%

Claim Ratio 93% 92% (1%)

103%
revenue GrOWTH

in the MrI footprint and 
service offering expansion

The Society continues to strive for the 80:10:10 ratio of claims to administration 
costs to reserves. Subscription income increases reflect the higher memberships 
and adjustments in response to health inflation that continued to outpace the 
consumer Price index. 
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Chairman’s Report [continued]

Principal Officer’s Office 

The Principal officer’s (Po) office is 
streamlined, comprising only two in-
house personnel and continues to 
fulfil its role as the conduit for all 
strategic, financial and administrative 
issues, solutions and planning. The 
Po’s office coordinates the outsourced 
services of expert consultants including 
alexander forbes asset consultants 
who provide investment management 
consultancy services, and actuaries - 
Willis Towers Watson - who also assist 
in risk management, benefits design and 
product pricing as mentioned elsewhere 
in the report. during 2016, a risk based 
internal audit function will be introduced 
to further bolster risk mitigation and to 
assist in assessing and managing the 
control environment of the fund. other 
support functions like human resources, 
administration, marketing, legal and 
financial management will continue 
to be delivered through a combination 
of shared services, insourcing and 
outsourcing. 

additionally the office of the Po will 
continue to coordinate reports, budgets 
and the meetings of the Society’s board 
of Trustees and board committees, 
and to act as Secretary to the board. 
Going forward, the office is tasked with 
increasing member subscriptions through 
aggressive and dynamic marketing, while 
retaining and satisfying the existing 
membership through improved customer 
service and innovative product offerings.

Governance

having nearly completed alignment with 
all King iii standards of governance in 
2015, we have embarked on the process 
of aligning with the King iV code as 
it evolves. To stay abreast with the 
developing governance requirements, 
the Po attended a governance training 
course in South africa at the beginning 
of 2016. This is in line in equipping the 
board in maintaining bomaid’s high 
standards of governance. our board of 
Trustees will also be receiving Trustee 
training through the board of health 
funders of Southern africa.

We have reviewed our corporate Social 
Responsibility (cSR) policy framework 
in 2015 and are developing appropriate 
and effective cSR initiatives for 2016 and 
beyond. 

Board of Trustees

The Society’s board of Trustees has been 
active throughout 2015, meeting eight 
times instead of the stipulated four. it 
gives me a great pleasure to welcome 
two new Trustees to the board, mrs 
lydia andries and mr emmanuel maite, 
who replace outgoing Trustees mrs 
macie molebatsi and mrs Jane monyake. 
mrs andries brings valuable actuarial 
experience to the board, and mr maite 
brings a wealth of experience in human 
resource management, investment 
management and administration. We are 
confident that their additional insight 
and perspective, and the extensive 
experience they bring to the board will 
enhance the Society’s performance going 
forward.

Where are we?

Revised Structure 2014-2017

after a difficult transition to a segmented, 
streamlined business model begun in late 
2013, 2015 marked the second full year 
of operations for bomaid and SouthView 
as separate entities. We have begun the 
transition of our business culture to one 
of efficiency and analytical, rationalised 
operations. The Principal officer has 
facilitated outsourcing of non-core 
functions, allowing his office to focus 
entirely on the core business while also 
gaining an objective, outside viewpoint 
on improved operations, better products 
and pricing and close management of 
the Society’s investment portfolios. 

our revised strategy has incorporated 
findings from our first ever customer 
satisfaction survey, targeting innovation 
in communications, products and service 
delivery. a holistic approach has been 
adopted, including both member and 
service provider requirements to further 
improve overall service. our members 
seek innovative solutions, better access 
and value for money and the input 
from members, service providers and 
actuarial consultants will continue to 
be invaluable in enhancing the bomaid 
offering and making the fund appealing 
across market segments. 
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Future Outlook

We believe that the business model 
as captured in the revised strategy 
document is sound, and we will continue 
to aspire towards achieving the 80:10:10 
target ratio with an expectation that the 
fund will be able to cover health and 
non-health costs in 2017 and beyond. 

despite a stagnant domestic economy, 
bomaid is now beginning to realise the 
potential of its revised business strategy 
and we look forward to increased 
market share as we continue leading the 
industry in offering innovative medical 
aid solutions through competitive 
products, dedicated customer centricity 
and sound fund performance. Product 
development and package optimisation 
is an essential and continuing 
process in order to improve member 
satisfaction; while gaining and retaining 
memberships through competitive 
advantages in benefits, customer 
service and value for money.

aggressive marketing strategies, 
aligned with better member education 
and access to information on new, 
cutting-edge and sometimes unfamiliar 
products, will continue to provide our 
members with the highest standard of 
healthcare cover in the country. as such, 
we are committed to improvements 
in iT and communications, with the 
upcoming launch of a dynamic, up-
to-date interactive website and an 
increased social media presence.

In addition to enhanced member 
communications, we strive 
towards improved customer 
service and satisfaction, by 
engaging with service providers, 
and providing improved cover, 
access to services and account 
management.

in line with our balanced Scorecard 
approach, we will continue to test and 
evaluate our revised business model 
by conducting regular strategy review 
exercises to ensure optimal alignment 
of resources and the allocation of 
funds and investments according to 
performance and growth potential. as 
part of our comprehensive strategic 
risk management, we are reviewing 
service level agreements with all our 
service providers, and in particular, are 
redefining SouthView’s future role and 
the balance between its administrative 
and investment functions. 

Acknowledgements

as i will be stepping down at this 2016 
annual General meeting, this is my 
last annual Report as chairperson. i 
would like to acknowledge the board 
of Trustees and the group boards of 
directors, for their continued support 
and input over the past two years; 
and to reflect on the improvements 
and strategies we have implemented, 
striving for a brighter future for bomaid 
and its members. i welcome our new 

trustees, ms lydia andries and mr 
emmanuel maite, who will undoubtedly 
contribute a wealth of experience and 
energy in the coming years, and to 
thank all Trustees for their support 
throughout my tenure as chairman.

furthermore, i would like to thank all 
the management teams and staff, 
from bomaid, SouthView, mRi, and 
alpha access, who have handled our 
strategic transition with dynamism 
and dedication, despite the sometimes 
difficult market circumstances they 
faced. 

most importantly, i would like extend 
my thanks and appreciation to you, 
the members of the Society, without 
whom we would not be the leading 
medical aid provider in botswana. Your 
continued custom and your input have 
been invaluable and continue to drive 
the team at bomaid and its subsidiaries 
to perform better, to innovate and 
to provide you with the best possible 
healthcare cover and value for money. 
Together we strive for happier, healthier 
lives and a better future for our 
members.

G C Rutta
chairman of the bomaid 
board of Trustees
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Corporate Governance

The botswana medical aid Society subscribes to the 
doctrine of good corporate Governance. accordingly, and in 
line with the rules of the Society, the board is ultimately 
accountable to the members of the Society. in recognition 
of this responsibility, the board has committed itself to 
the highest standards of corporate Governance through 
adhering to a board charter which outlines the board’s 
responsibilities. These include setting the Society’s strategic 
direction, developing key policies, approving the budgets, 
monitoring implementation of the approved strategy and 
ensuring that there is full compliance with all regulatory 
requirements. These responsibilities are achieved through a 
systematic process of comprehensive reporting to the board 
by management, and the board is ultimately responsible for 
ensuring that reporting standards conform to the principles 
laid out in the Society’s book of Rules.

A key element of the implementation of the structural reorganisation of the Society is that the 

Board was changed from a Board of Management to a Board of Trustees. All appointments to 

the Board at the 2015 AGM were made in line with the new Board composition and structure. 

Board Structure

in accordance with the Society’s constitution, the board is 
composed of ten (10) Trustees, four (4) of whom are elected 
by member companies and appointed to the board by the 
General membership of the Society.  Two (2) Trustees are 
members of the Society nominated by any other member of 
the Society, and elected by the general membership at the 
annual General meeting. Three (3) independent members 
are appointed by the six (6) Trustees appointed by the 
General membership. The board further includes one ex- 
officio member, being the Principal officer of the Society 
who is appointed by the board. The elected Trustees serve 
for a maximum of two terms of three years each. 
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a chairperson and deputy chairperson are elected from among the nine non-executive Trustees. Gratian Rutta and Thabo 
Silitshena are serving their second year as chairperson and deputy chairperson respectively, having been elected in July 2014. 
lydia andries and emmanuel maite were appointed to the board in october 2015 to replace Jane monyake and macie molebatsi 
who had served their maximum two terms of three years each. 

BOARD COMPOSITION

Gratian Rutta chairperson 

Thabo Silitshena deputy chairperson 

macie molebatsi Trustee (Retired 30th June 2015)

Jane monyake Trustee (Retired 30th June 2015)

evelyn disele Trustee 

ditshetsa makepe Trustee 

oathokwa Nkomazana Trustee 

ofentse mabote Trustee 

Pelani Siwawa-Ndai Trustee 

emmanuel maite Trustee (appointed 1st october 2015)

lydia andries Trustee (appointed 1st october 2015)

moraki  mokgosana ex-officio 

 
Board Meetings

The board is required to sit at least four times a year. during the year the board met eight times.

Board Attendance Register

 Date of Meeting 05/02/15 12/03/15 05/05/15 04/06/15 10/09/15 25/09/15 31/10/15 03/12/15

Gratian Rutta P P P P a P P P

ofentse mabote P P P P P P P P

Pelani Siwawa-Ndai P P P P a P P P

oathokwa Nkomazana P a a a a P P P

ditshetsa makepe a P P P P P a P

Jane monyake P P P P Na N/a Na Na

macie molebatsi P P P P Na N/a Na Na

evelyn disele P a P a P P a P

Thabo Silitshena P P a P P P P P

lydia andries N/a Na Na Na Na N/a P P

emmanuel maite N/a Na Na Na Na N/a a P

P - Present A - absent/apology          NA - Not applicable/Trustee not on board

Board Committees

in line with the standards of good corporate governance, the Society’s constitution and the board charter provide for the 
establishment of designated board committees, in order to assist the board to deliver on its mandate. Where it deems fit, the 
board can delegate some of its powers to these designated committees. in delegating its powers, the board ensures that such 
delegated authority is express. The committees recommend their final decisions to the board. This, however, does no transfer 
any of the responsibilities of the board to the respective committees, and the board remains ultimately accountable to the 
members of the Society. during the year under review, the board constituted a human Resource committee to increase the 
number of committees from two to three. in line with the constitution the chairperson sat on none.
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Corporate Governance [continued]

Financial Reporting

The committee assists the board of 
Trustees with all financial reporting and 
reviews the annual financial statements 
as well as preliminary announcements 
and interim financial information. it 
further provides the board with its views 
on a regular assessment of the financial 
status of The Group and regularly reviews 
the appropriateness of the capital 
structure. 

The committee also reviews and, 
where necessary, challenges the annual 
financial statements as well as interim 
and preliminary announcements before 
their submission to the board for 
approval. 

Auditing

With regard to auditing, the committee 
is required to:
• assist the board in its evaluation of 

the adequacy and efficiency of the 
internal control systems, accounting 
practices, information systems and 
auditing processes applied in the day-
to-day management of the Society in 

compliance with all applicable legal 
requirements, corporate governance 
and accounting standards.

• Provide a forum for communication 
between the board, management, 
and the internal and external 
auditors.

• Review and confirm the independence 
of the external auditors, and to 
review and approve the engagement 
of the external auditors for non-
audit work

Risk Assessment

The finance, Risk and audit committee 
reviews the risk register in which all key 
operational and financial risks affecting 
the business are recorded. New risks, 
if and when identified, are added to 
the register while others fall away over 
a period of time. The role of the Risk 
assessment committee is to enhance the 
organisation’s ability to manage, and not 
necessarily avoid or eliminate every risk, 
but to ensure that the overall risk profile 
remains acceptable.

Finance, Risk and Audit Risk Committee

Jane Monyake   
Chairperson (Until June 2015)

Ofentse Mabote   
Chairperson (From July 2015)

Pelani Siwawa Ndai   
Member

Lydia Andries   
Member (From October 2015)

Moraki Mokgosana   
Ex-Officio

The finance, Risk and audit committee 
comprises at least three members. The 
main function of the committee is to 
assist the board in discharging its duties 
of ensuring prudent management of 
financial matters and managing risks 
facing the Society. The committee 
continuously reviews reports on the 
management of internal controls, risk 
management, investment performance, 
actuarial reporting and management 
accounts and makes the requisite 
recommendations for approval by the 
board.

Attendance Register

Date of Meeting 11/03/15 27/04/15 17/06/15 27/08/15 03/12/15

Jane monyake P P P Na Na

Pelani Siwawa-Ndai P P P P P

ofentse mabote P P P P P

lydia andries Na Na Na Na P

P - Present A - absent/apology          NA - Not applicable/Trustee not on board

Benefits, Appeals and Service Quality Committee

Macie Molebatsi   Chairperson  (Until 30 June 2015)

Evelyn Disele   Chairperson (From July 2015)

Ditshetsa Makepe   Member

Oathokwa Nkomazana  Member

Lydia Andries   Member   (From October 2015) 
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Human Resources Committee

emmanuel maite   
Chairperson (From December 2015)

evelyn disele   
Member

Thabo Silitshena  
Member

The function of this committee is to 
advise the board on human Resources 
policies and strategies, including 
remuneration and the appointment of 
officers of the Society. The committee 
is charged with reviewing and offering 
counsel on the status of the Society’s 
human intellectual capital. in addition, 
the committee evaluates succession 
planning and endorses executive 
appointments. The committee is also 
responsible for the welfare of board 
members across the Group.

2015 Board Fees    Pula

m molebatsi 34 500.00
J monyake 36 000.00 
o mabote 34 500.00
d makepe 27 000.00   
G Rutta 72 000.00
e disele 28 500.00
T Silitshena 26 500.00
P S Ndai 33 000.00 
o Nkomazana 18 000.00
l andries 13 500.00
e maite 9 000.00
Total 332 500.00

Remuneration above includes 
compensation for Trustees’ attendance 
at committee meetings. The breakdown 
of remuneration by meeting type is as 
follows:

board 183 000.00

appeals and Service 
Quality committee  30 000.00

finance, audit & Risk 
committee  34 500.00

human Resources 
committee 6 000.00 

other assignments   79 000.00 
Total 332 500.00
   
Investment Policy of the Society

The Society is, in principle, a benefit 
Society. This therefore means that 
the Society is not taxed on receipt 
of subscriptions and income on 
investment. it is the duty of the board 
to approve an appropriate strategy for 
The Society, monitor the performance 
of the Society’s investments and make 
investment changes where necessary.

during the year, The board adopted 
an investment Policy and Strategy 
document that allows it to invest all 
the investible assets in a moderate-Risk 
Strategy through a blend of growth 
assets. The Strategy adopted is expected 
to provide a long-term return outcome 
of	CPI+2.6%.	The	Society	will	have	some	
exposure to foreign investments in 
order to provide diversification.

This committee assists the board in carrying out its responsibility to assess appeals 
from the Society’s members and to foster a culture of service excellence. The 
committee ensures that the Society fulfils its mission of providing competitive and 
diverse health care funding through innovation and service excellence while at the 
same time maintaining an appropriate balance between compassion, fairness and 
fiscal realism.

The committee also helps the board in discharging its duties of managing the 
Service level agreements with the administrator, SouthView and benefit offerings 
to its members.

Attendance Register

Date of meeting 03/03 17/06 25/08 02/12 09/12

macie molebatsi P P Na Na Na

evelyn disele a a P P P

oathokwa Nkomazana P a P P P

ditshetsa makepe P P P a a

lydia andries Na Na Na P P

P - Present      A-absent/apology NA Not applicable/Trustee not on board

This committee is also responsible for 
reviewing the remuneration policies 
of the Society. in awarding annual 
increases to employees, consideration is 
given to an employee’s performance as 
well as economic conditions impacting 
the industry and geographical market in 
which the Society operates.

Attendance Register

Date of meeting 02/12

emmanuel maite P

evelyn disele P

Thabo Silitshena P

P - Present A - Absent/Apology 
NA - Not Applicable/Trustee not on board

Board Remuneration

Remuneration for board members is 
calculated according to the stipulated 
sitting rates and compensation for 
members was as follows for the year 
under review:
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Corporate Governance [continued]

Regulatory Compliance

according to the Non-bank financial institutions Regulatory authority act of 2008 
medical aids are regulated and supervised by NbfiRa. NbfiRa is currently in the 
process of developing regulations and a policy framework for medical aids. These are 
expected to be passed into law by Parliament in the near future.

The Society has adopted the following long-term strategic asset allocation:

Asset Class % Allocation Allocation Limits (%)

local equities 28 0-42

local bonds 28 0-42

local cash 14 0-100

foreign equities 18 0-27

foreign bonds 12 0-18

The board tasked alexander forbes asset consultants in 2015 to provide asset 
consultancy services and to oversee performance by asset managers.
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Principal Officer’s Report

We have implemented approach which includes 
risk assessment of current and future business 
expansion, and investment management.

Introduction

In 2015 the Botswana Medical Aid Society continued to build 

upon the business strategy review of 2014, consolidating 

the key tenets of the strategy and refining the direction 

of Bomaid and its subsidiaries. Central to the strategy 

was the separation of Bomaid and its core function from 

its administration, and this saw the establishment of 

SouthView, a 100% owned subsidiary operating both as 

Fund administrator and as an investment arm through 

its subsidiaries MRI and Alpha Access.

Dental 4.80%

Hospital 36.75%

Consultation, drugs and 
rehabilitation 38.68%

Maternity 3.44%

Optical and appliances 2.35%

Funeral 0.43%

Emergency Medical Services 0.21%

Chronic ailments 6.59%

Special benefits 3.72%

Legal expenses 0.00%

Severe illness benefit cover 1.65%

Ministry of Health PPP costs 0.88%

Wellness Program costs 0.49%
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Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

bomaid continues to refine the 
alignment of its governance structures 
and operations to comply with the 
regulations to be introduced by the Non-
bank financial institutions Regulatory 
authority (NbfiRa). The medical aid 
fund regulations, which incorporate 
inputs from stakeholder consultations 
conducted by deloitte in 2015, are 
expected to be presented to parliament 
in the near future. in the meantime, we 
strive to comply with all existing minimal 
guidelines including the submission of 
quarterly returns of financial statistics 
and the vetting of board member and 
senior management appointments.

The SoCIeTy

against a backdrop of challenging 
economic realities, the Society continued 
to make gains in memberships and has 
implemented a revamped membership 
management system which aims to 
forestall future credit control issues 
and to reconcile membership with 
subscription revenues in order to 
consolidate the benefits of the recent 
membership clean-up exercise.

MeMbeRShIp CLean-Up exeRCISe

The Society undertook a membership 
clean-up and verification exercise from 
2014 into 2015, resulting in the purging 
of over 2,700 redundant memberships 
from the database. This consolidation 
resulted in a smaller subscription base 
and we are now able to move forward 
with more streamlined and sustainable 
operations. The up-to-date, optimised 
membership system is supported by new 
tightened credit control processes aimed 
at enhancing member compliance going 
forward.

FInanCIaL peRFoRManCe

Membership

despite resolution of our inflated 
membership database, the Society 
experienced net membership growth 
of	 2.1%	 in	 2015,	 exceeding	 the	 1.3%	
botswana industry average and marking 
success in new business penetration. 
during 2015 we managed to grow from 
37,374 to 38,166 members, and the 
number of lives covered increased from 
81,641 to 83,199. 

Following	a	disappointing	1.8%	increase	
in 2014, subscription income grew 
by	 12%	 in	 2015,	 attributable	 to	 new	
memberships and inflation-driven 
annual subscription increases of around 
8%.	 No	 income	 was	 received	 from	 the	
now defunct ministry of health PPP 
contract. claim payments increased by 
11%	 from	P404.4m	 in	2014	 to	P447m,	
and	totalled	92%	of	subscription	income,	
a	1%	improvement	over	the	93%	claims	
ratio recorded in 2014. The contribution 
surplus	 increased	by	29%	from	P32.4m	
in 2014 to P41.7m in 2015.

in terms of the business strategy review 
of 2014, we have continued to identify 
and close gaps in our operations. While 
the administration contribution to 
SouthView	increased	by	1.7%	to	P46.5m	
in	 2015,	 this	 represents	 only	 9.6%	 of	
subscription income, an improvement 
from	the	10.7%	ratio	in	2014.

The 2014 review aligned operations with 
the philosophy of a “balanced Scorecard 
approach” - a holistic management 
system framing membership, the 
optimisation of processes and human 
resources from a financial perspective. 
This approach, which has now been 
fully implemented at bomaid, includes 
risk assessment of current and future 
business expansion, and investment 
management.

eConoMIC oveRvIeW

during the 2015 financial year (January 
to december 2015), bomaid has 
continued to operate in a stagnant 
domestic economy, which experienced 
a	 0.5%	 decline	 in	 GDP	 for	 the	 period.	
Retrenchments in the financial services 
sector and business closures have been 
impactful on our core business as bomaid 
traditionally has a large membership 
base in the commercial sector. mine 
closures, while less impactful because of 
lower membership numbers, are also a 
concern. The local stock market has been 
sluggish and has underperformed, with 
little real growth. fortunately, regional 
and international investments have 
performed satisfactorily. 

inflation has been reasonably well 
managed with the consumer Price index 
(CPI)	 averaging	 3.1%	 through	 2015.	
however, health inflation continues at 
more	than	double	the	CPI	at	6.34%.	This	
follows	 2014	 figures	 of	 4.4%	 and	 8.3%	
respectively, entrenching a pattern of 
health inflation significantly exceeding 
cPi, which places an additional burden on 
our members as unavoidable subscription 
increases are substantial to the average 
consumer, and “hurt the pocket.”

2.1%
neT MeMbersHIp GrOWTH 
from 37,374 members in 2014 to 
38,166 members in 2015
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Total expenses, inclusive of depreciation 
of property, plant and equipment, grew 
by	 70.9%	 to	 P96.4m,	 on	 the	 back	 of	
increased administration expenses 
which rose from P9.9m to P 48.9m,
chiefly due to revaluation of the 
investment in SouthView as a result 
of impairments at alpha access 
and revaluations of investments in 
SouthView and mRi. Taking into account 
net fair value gain on available-
for-sale financial assets and asset 
reclassification adjustments, the Society 
registered a total comprehensive deficit 
for the year of P27m, up from P10m 
in 2014.

human Resources

While the manpower compliment 
at bomaid remains at two – the 
Principal officer (Po) and executive 
assistant, they work closely with our 
administrators, SouthView, our asset 
consultants alexander forbes asset 
consultants and actuaries, Willis Towers 
Watson. With the actuaries we have 
implemented strategies for pricing, 

product design, risk management and 
industry benchmarking, as well as on 
governance enhancement issues. as the 
oversight function of the Po’s office has 
expanded, an additional appointment to 
the staff is planned for 2016.

a marked benefit of this continuous 
analysis process has been an improved 
risk perspective and a greater 
understanding of the factors that 
lie behind the drivers of our costs. 
it has also assisted in developing 
and optimising benefit schemes for 
profitability and to best meet member 
needs, and is framed by membership 
optimisation and the identification and 
maintenance of key accounts. as a 
result of this segmented analysis of our 
core business, we have adjusted pricing 
for 2016 benefit schemes and improved 
on the design of new benefit packages 
moving forward.

We have continued to outsource 
certain aspects of management, with 
alexander forbes asset consultants 
leading our drive towards efficiencies in 
investment management in conjunction 
with our existing asset managers; bifm, 
african alliance and fleming asset 
management, who have been given 
additional investment portfolios.

Group performance

consolidated group revenue increased by 
10.4%	from	P483.7m	to	P534.1m	on	the	
back of higher subscription revenue and 
revenue from sale of goods. Total costs 
rose from P440.1m in 2014 to P473.7m 
in	 2015,	 a	 7.6%	 increase,	 resulting	 in	
a contribution surplus of P60.3m, up 
38%	 from	 P43.6m	 in	 2014.	 The	 hefty	
increase in administration expenses 
borne by the Society resulted in group 
expenditure	 rising	 78%	 to	 P115.8m	
and a total comprehensive deficit for 
the year, inclusive of adjustments, of 
P19.6m. 

10.4%
revenue COnsOlIdaTed GrOup

from p483.7 million to 
p534.1 million
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Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

mRi’s Prime health Pharmacy (PhP) 
operations have continued to grow in 
2015, with the expansion of services and 
extended GP service hours at the main 
facility in block 7, Gaborone. The small 
dispensary at bomaid head office in 
fairgrounds continues to operate. 

highlights for 2015 were the opening 
of a PhP in Kasane and a Travel health 
clinic at Sir Seretse Khama international 
airport.

mRi is committed to expanding these 
operations, with new PhPs targeted for 
maun and francistown in 2016. mRi’s 
growing network of service providers and 
clinics now enables a one stop shop for 
existing and new members to access a 
wide variety of medical services including 
chronic ailment Support and the Special 
benefit fund for hiV/aidS which have 
been transferred to PhP.

alpha access

SouthView’s alpha access subsidiary 
was established to manufacture and 
distribute latex male condoms and 
other medical products for the southern 
african region. in 2015 alpha access 
operations achieved revenue of P4.6m, 
up from less than P170 000 in 2014. This 
is attributed to growing contracts with 
both the botswana and South african 
governments. however, costs of sales 
of P7.7m and administration costs of 
P4.2m resulted in a total comprehensive 
loss for the year of P7.5m, against P5m 
in 2014. 

forecasted volumes have not been 
forthcoming, and expected orders have 
not been received. 

Investments

With expectations for an improved 
strategic outlook in 2015, the Society 
has reallocated P98.25m of assets 
previously managed in-house to external 
asset managers, bifm, fleming and 
african alliance. These funds have been 
invested in line with our strategy and 
the investments Policy document. The 
outlook is positive for these investments, 
which include approximately P72.5m 
of investment held at the botswana 
building Society. The Society’s investment 
strategy balances local investments, such 
as mentioned above, with regional and 
international investments, which guards 
against a stagnating economy. The 
strategy also focuses on achieving an 
optimum balance of cash, near-cash and 
non-cash (equity) investments, allowing 
for flexible and agile portfolios. 

WheRe Do We STanD?

Membership Statistics:

The average age of bomaid membership 
has risen slightly to 41.16 years in 
december 2015, from 40.88 years in 
the previous year. While this is a small, 
insignificant increase, we should be 
prudent to identify strategies to counter 
external factors which are driving the 
average age of membership upwards, as 
higher average age impacts negatively 
on overall business performance. Given 
a quiet local economy, unemployment 
has been the major factor in preventing 
young, employable residents from joining 
medical aid schemes. in the current 
economic climate, product innovation 
and competitive pricing remain our 
best strategy for enticing new young 
members.

Southview

SouthView,	 Bomaid’s	 100%	 owned	
subsidiary, continues to perform its key 
functions as the Society’s administration 
arm and its investment vehicle.

Southview Financial performance  

SouthView experienced a marked 
improvement	 in	 revenue,	 with	 a	 50%	
increase from P104.4m in 2014 to 
P156.3m in 2015. however, costs have 
grown rapidly from P48.1m in 2014 
to P93.6m in 2015, resulting in gross 
margins	 decreasing	 from	 54%	 to	 40%.	
The increased costs and depressed 
margins are seen as an integral part 
of expanding the mRi business model 
of pharmacies and clinics, providing 
them with adequate resources to meet 
the required high standards of care. 
Gross margins are expected to improve 
as the investment in infrastructure, 
improvements in procurement strategies, 
and personnel begins to create 
sustainable growth in this segment. 
overall, SouthView administration costs 
have risen from P55.6m to P91.7m, a 
65%	 increase.	 This	 resulted	 in	 a	 total	
comprehensive deficit for the year, 
inclusive of adjustments, of P28.6m, 
against a surplus of P0. 94m in 2014.

MRI

The mRi subsidiary was the most 
significant provider of SouthView’s 
increased revenue, with a contribution 
of	 P109m,	 up	 203%	 from	 P53.7m	 in	
2014. increased mRi direct costs and 
administration expenses resulted in 
profit after taxation (PaT) of 1.37m and 
total comprehensive income for the year 
of P6.2m, up from P2.7m the year before.
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SeRvICe DeLIveRy

Membership expectations

bomaid continually strives to improve 
member experience, by regularly 
communicating with members and 
service providers and constantly 
updating products and pricing to meet 
expectations. With the additional 
assistance of actuarial and governance 
consultants, we are able to analyse 
member expectations from a financial 
standpoint, which not only drives value 
for money, but realises efficiencies in 
the core business. constant evaluation 
of legacy and future products and 
optimisation of group performance in 
alignment with a “balanced Scorecard 
approach” will enable the Society to 
maintain loyalty and growth in the 
membership.

We continually assess growth in 
membership and membership usage 
trends; and categorise these according 
to service type in order to assess the 
demands of our membership. This 
ensures that we are able to provide 
extensive, essential and balanced 
health cover. a health balance sheet 
monitors the health of the Society and 
its impact on the fund by assessing 
increased usage in conjunction with 
increases in membership. The aim 
is to balance increases in costs and 
administrative fees with the goal of 
maintaining a 80:10:10 ratio of claims 
to administration costs to reserves.

Key STaTISTICS & heaLTh baLanCe SheeT

DeSCRIpTIon
Number/

lives (2014)
Number/

lives (2015)
% Increase 
(decrease)

Severe illness pay-out (since inception) 40 66 65%

Chronic disease Programme 8,994 10,936 22%

HIV/Aids Programme 3,968 4,394 11%

Screening & prevention uptake 1,407 3,559 153%

ANC uptake 69 188 172%

Member appeals approved 12 16 33%

Claims processed & paid 643,961 667,189 4%

Service provider network (local) 714 804 13%

New members 4,488 4,653 4%

Wellness Programme 5,805 5,437 (6%)
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INTRODUCING BOMAID’S REFRESHED BRAND

Healthier, Happier lives

REFRESH RATIONALE

BEFORE AFTER

Using a basic tenant of healthcare as inspiration, the use 
of capsule tablets is to symbolise medicine, which is at the 
centre of health, our brand essence.

The two capsules combined, represent the two letters of 
the brand name forming B and A.
           
            -BOM             -AID

HEART OF HEALTH
The design also results in a solid SQUARE, pronouncing 
the solid structure that is at the core of our business.

The capsules combine to form a heart , which represents 
our essence of being. 

The refresh denotes a renewed sense of purpose and direction 
for Bomaid. The Bomaid refreshed logo represents the passion, 
commitment and heart with which we service our members.

The colours blue, black and white have been kept consistent to those 
of the original logo, to symbolise the foundation of the brand as solidly 
seated in continuity.

Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

The neW boMaID bRanD
The bomaid brand has been refreshed to reflect the wider scope of 
the services offered through the Society and its subsidiaries. a new 
symbolism depicting medicine capsules speaks to our PhP initiative, 
while the heart design is a universal symbol of health.
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Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

boMaID CaReS

As the oldest Medical Aid Society in 
Botswana, Bomaid continues to offer 
quality products and services for its 
members. However, to ensure we remain 
a reliable provider of health care cover, 
and to continue as the market leader, 
as evidence of our commitment to our 
members, we are continuously seeking to 
expand services and create convenience 
with upgraded pharmacy facilities, 
enhanced communications and customer 
service improvements. Following our 
first customer satisfaction survey in 
2013, we are progressively implementing 
the changes and suggestions that, the 
members have identified in order to 
maintain a competitive advantage. A 
follow-up customer and service provider 
satisfaction survey was concluded in 
early 2016.

pRoDUCTS

Essential to improving member 
experience is product innovation. Our 
products, namely the benefits that 
members sign on for, require constant 
review and updating. As medical 
technologies, standards of living, access 
to service providers and public knowledge 
and member expectations are expanded, 
medical aid societies are best placed to 
coordinate and combine services in an 
efficient and usable package that offers 
value for money.

The Society continues to review and 
evaluate the adequacy of member 
benefits through member feedback and 
our internal assessments, and we have 
made significant improvements in the 
benefits over the last three years without 
placing pressure on the membership to 
fund these improvements. 

The following benefit enhancements have 
been approved for 2016:

1. overal benefits
	 5%	 increase	 across	 all	 benefit	

categories 

2. Inpatient benefits
 having been challenged with an 

increasing number of high cost 
neonatal cases, the Society has 
improved the neonatal benefit 
and neonatal admissions will 
now be covered in the overall 
hospitalisation benefit. We expect 
to provide adequate cover for such 
cases and to reduce the burden of 
co-payments on the members.

3. outpatient benefits
 a. Antenatal Classes - We 

continue to promote antenatal 
healthcare for expectant mothers, 
and have improved the overall 
cover for antenatal classes. We 
have contracted more service 
providers for this benefit, along 
with increased roll out of antenatal 
healthcare information.

 b. Obstetric Ultrasound Scans - 
The Society now covers two obstetric 
scans for normal pregnancy, 
required in cases where there is 
medical need for more multiple 
scans.

 c. Medical and Surgical Appliances 
- These benefits have also been 
improved in order to adequately 
cater for the changing needs of the 
members.

 d. Safe Male Circumcision – To 
accommodate increasing costs, the 
safe male circumcision benefit has 
been improved.

 e. Optical Benefits - optical 
benefits are some of the most 
expensive services for members. for 
2016 and beyond, the Society has 
improved cover of optical frames 
across all schemes.
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Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

TESTiMONiALS
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Principal Officer’s Report [continued]

New opportunities in medical 
tourism are a becoming an 
operational reality in the 
industry, given the limited access 
to advanced services and their 
relative costs in the Southern 
African region. Many of our 
patients stand to benefit from 
improved access to high quality, 
value for money medical services 
globally.

acknowledgements

i would like to thank the board of 
Trustees of the Society for its direction 
and support in a challenging year, 
and for guiding the group towards 
sustainable operations in the future. 
i also acknowledge the contributions 
made by the boards of the subsidiaries. 
in particular, i extend my thanks to dr 
Gratian Rutta whose term as chairman 
of the board of Trustees comes to an end 
at the aGm. dr Rutta has served in this 
role since 2014 and has been a Trustee 
for 6 years, contributing a steady hand 
and astute leadership.

i also thank the management teams 
and staff members across the group, 
who have contributed in their divisions 
to encouragingly positive performance 
for the group in difficult circumstances, 
and who have adapted to a changing 
business model. as we transition to 
streamlined structures and strategic 
operations in a context of emerging 
regulations on medical aid funds and 
other developments in a changing 
industry, we need to adapt to economic 
and market conditions and have our 
teams to thank for our stability,

most importantly, we all thank our 
members, who continue to support the 
Society, and its subsidiaries, allowing 
for increased access to medical services. 
i assure you that we appreciate your 
support and strive to optimise our 
products and pricing, to broaden access 
to the medical care you need and provide 
you with improved customer service. 
We hope to continue to expand our 
membership, allowing for a stronger 
fund and greater value for money for our 
existing and future members.

Thank you.

Moraki Mokgosana
bomaid Principal officer

Future outlook

in response to the 2014 customer 
satisfaction survey, we have 
improved member and service 
provider engagement, by identifying 
communication gaps, improving service 
provision and customer service where 
required. an improved website, quarterly 
newsletter, increased presence on social 
media and a dynamic communications 
strategy are being implementing to 
better connect with members. The 
2016 customer and service provider 
satisfaction survey will continue to probe 
for service chain weaknesses and also 
enable us to focus on our relationship 
with our key service providers.

We have identified plans to enhance our 
value proposition, following international 
best practice, by reviewing our book of 
rules, developing innovative products, 
systems and processes to enhance 
customer experience and by developing 
the health balance sheet. 

central to our business strategy review 
has been the evolution towards greater 
operational sustainability, allowing 
for better pricing, improved cost 
management and effective investment 
management.

enhanced brand visibility, as a result 
of refreshing our brand, will address 
what has been a key concern, and will 
facilitate better market penetration and 
recognition. Greater recognition and 
visibility are essential to nurture our new 
enterprises such as the Prime health 
Pharmacy, which are still gaining traction 
and will benefit from brand association 
and synergy across the group.
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Southview (Pty) Ltd

We provide quality, innovative, efficient and diverse 
sustainable healthcare solutions.

Our Company

Southview (Pty) Ltd is a holding company with investments in a diverse group of companies 
providing innovative and diverse healthcare and wellness management solutions. Its inception was 
in response to shifting trends in healthcare, from basic curative forms to proactively providing 
and encouraging holistic wellness interventions for healthy living, with an emphasis on disease 
prevention rather than cure. Incorporated in 2006, Southview commenced operations in 2013 and 
is currently owned 100% by the Botswana Medical Aid Society (Bomaid).

Our Vision

To be the leader in the delivery of 
innovative healthcare and wellness 
solutions in the region.

Our Mission

Our Values

• People first

• Service excellence

• Our customers are our success

SouthView
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our business

Southview was conceptualised in response 
to major trends in the global healthcare 
industry including increasing demand for 
quality and affordable healthcare services; 
increasing need for comprehensive 
wellness solutions and integrated 
healthcare services; shifting disease 
burden profiles for public and private 
sectors; and unsustainable healthcare 
costs for individuals, corporations and 
governments.  

Southview delivers a diverse range of 
services through its highly skilled and 
experienced staff and value-driven, client-
centred, business philosophies. We are 
confident in our continuing ability to make 
a difference in botswana’s healthcare 
landscape; consistently providing a broad 
set of healthcare and wellness solutions 
across our business operations and 
subsidiaries, which include:

• fund administration and managed 
care Services

• emergency medical Services and 
Related Support Services

• call centre Services
• Primary healthcare Services 
• on-Site medical Services
• manufacturing and distribution of 

medical Products 

business Units 

Southview fund administration
our fund administration business offers 
client-centric and value-driven solutions 
which include: 

• administration of client medical aid 
funds.  our key clients are the bomaid 
and bUPa medical aid schemes.

• administration of health related 
insurance products.  our current 
product portfolio includes critical 
illness benefit, funeral benefit and 
hospital cash plans.

• Provision of managed care solutions, 
wellness and disease management 
programmes.

With industry experience exceeding 40 
years, our operational model encompasses 
cu s t ome r  s e r v i c e s ,  membe r sh i p 
management, claims management, case 
management, managed care services and 
service provider management. Support 
functions include product development, 
marketing, information technology and 
financial management.

PrOGrESSiVE

medical coVeR 
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Southview (Pty) Ltd [continued]

Financial Management

our financial management function, 
which is provided through Shared Services, 
ensures that members are billed correctly 
in line with their health plans, inclusive of 
any optional benefits and products. Services 
include:

• billing members and corporate clients 
for medical aid and other services 

• collection and  allocation of 
subscriptions

• final payment of member and 
provider claims

• Release of supporting remittance 
statements following payment

our Subsidiaries

1. MRI Botswana Limited
Southview	 holds	 a	 93%	 shareholding	 in	
mRi botswana limited (mRi), the largest 
and industry leading emergency medical 
Services (emS) company in botswana. 
incorporated in 1991, mRi provides 
emergency medical services, 24/7/365 
medical call centre services and primary 
healthcare services. These include general 
medical practice and pharmacy services; 
on-site medical services, particularly for 
remote areas and mining companies; and 
emergency medical training including first 
aid and life support.

2. Alpha Access
Southview	 is	 the	 100%	 shareholder	 of	
alpha access (Pty) ltd, a company that 
manufactures latex medical products, 
primarily male latex condoms. alpha access 
has the capacity to produce 5 million 
condoms per month for an estimated 
potential botswana market of 40 million 
condoms per annum and an available 
market in South africa of 30 million 
(awaiting the latest figure from alpha 
access) condoms per year. The company’s 
medium to long term strategy is to expand 
production to additional latex medical 
products, including surgical gloves other 
medical equipment and accessories. alpha 
access targets governments, corporates 
and individuals, both locally and within the 
Sadc region.

• Pre-authorisation of services
• continuous engagement with service 

providers and family where necessary 
• continuous clinical and financial 

updates between service providers and 
members

• co-management of cases in liaison 
with service providers

• Submission of assessed cases to the 
insurer for further processing and 
payment

Managed Care Services

our managed care Services are aimed 
at balancing accessibility, affordability 
and service quality throughout our fund 
administration and customer Services. 
Services include;

• Provision of disease management 
services; hiV/aidS and other, non-
communicable diseases

• Provision of related wellness services 
such as health screening, health 
education, absenteeism management 
and wellness day events

Service provider Management

our Service Provider management function 
services include:

• contracting healthcare service 
providers 

• managing service provider contracts
• Relationship management
• continuous evaluation of service 

providers, ensuring 
- correct application of scheme 

rules and protocols
- correct utilisation of member 

benefits through proper billing 
and coding

- the use of best clinical practice.
 

Customer Services

our customer Services function ensures 
continuous engagement with members 
regarding the full scope of their fund. 
This includes new products and benefits in 
addition to changes in their subscriptions. 
Southview services aimed at ensuring 
speedy query management and complaint 
resolution include:

• day-to-day  general customer care and 
support

• customised key account management
• Relationship management
• membership education 
• member visitations

Membership Management

our membership management function 
ensures that member details are well 
maintained and continuously updated as 
required. Services include:

• assessment and processing of 
applications

• membership underwriting
• Regular membership updates
• maintenance of member databases

Claims Management

The claims management unit manages 
member and service provider claims in 
relation to services rendered, applicable 
benefits, cover levels and agreed service 
tariffs. Services include:

• claims processing and payment 
• benefit management
• benefit utilisation reviews

Case Management

as a sub-function of claims management, 
our case management function monitors 
and manages hospital cases and special 
cases in line with standard medical 
practices and principles of service quality. 
case management services include:
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Our Service Model

We provide our services through a 
shared services model across the Group’s 
structure. our main business operations 
are supported by a range of shared 
services including:

• Strategy and business development
• finance
• information and communications 

Technology
• Sales and marketing
• legal Services
• internal audit

Our Clients

Southview is proud to provide sustainable 
healthcare and wellness solutions to 
leading medical aid schemes and other 
clients (public and private) in botswana. 
our key clients include:

Fund Administration and 
Managed Care: 
• botswana medical aid Society 

(bomaid)

Emergency Medical and Related 
Support Services:

• botswana medical aid Society 
(bomaid)

• botswana Public officers medical aid 
Scheme (bPomaS)

• Pula medical aid
• Symphony health

Primary Healthcare and On-Site Medical 
Services:
• General Public and Private clients
• mining companies 

Manufacturing and Distribution of Medical 
Products: 
• ministry of health
• Private companies, NGo’s and 

Parastatals

Our Corporate Governance

Southview promotes good corporate 
Governance as part of its business culture. 
The board of directors has committed 
itself to the highest standards of corporate 
Governance, with their responsibilities 
outlined in a board charter. These include 
setting the company’s strategic direction, 

developing key policies, approving 
budgets, monitoring implementation 
of the approved strategy and ensuring 
full regulatory compliance. These 
responsibilities are applied by management 
through a systematic, comprehensive 
reporting process to the board. The board 
is ultimately responsible for ensuring 
that reporting adheres to the regulatory 
standards.

Our Contact Details
head office 
Plot 50638 
fairground office Park  
P o box 632 
Gaborone 
Tel: 3633101
fax: 3184230

Francistown Branch 
Plot 21931& 21932 
Suite a, Tebo house 
P o box 3328 
francistown 
Tel: 2410316
fax: 2410341

PrOGrESSiVE
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BACKGrOuND iNFO/HiSTOry

MRI	Botswana	Limited	(MRIB)	is	a	100%	citizen	owned	private	company	that	was	incorporated	in	
the botswana registry of companies in march 1991. The company is owned by Southview (Pty) ltd 
(93%),	Motor	Vehicle	Accident	Fund	(4%)	and	other	minority	shareholders	(3%).	

“A COMPANY OF FIRSTS IN THE DELIVERY OF 
quALiTy HEALTHCArE SErViCES”

over the years, mRi has earned the 
trust of both government and the 
private sector which form the bulk 
of its clientele. Today, the mRi brand 
carries significant recognition in 
botswana in the field of Pre-hospital 
emergency medical care (Phemc); 
Primary and occupational healthcare 
services, especially within the mining 
sector as well as Pharmaceutical 
services, thus increasing access to 
healthcare services to all communities.

COrE BuSiNESS 

our core business is 
to provide innovative 
healthcare services and 
related healthcare solutions 
to various end users through 
a variety of coordinated 
business units.

THE NEW Mri

Services and Associate Businesses 

1. First ever Travel Medicine Clinic in 
Botswana

Prime health travel clinic operates at 
the Sir Seretse Khama airport providing 
travel medicine services to a niche 
market, essentially providing professional 
emergency medical Services (emS) to the 
aviation industry, predominantly travellers. 
The clinic provides up to date, accurate 
information on health and safety aspects 
of specific destinations to travellers, even 
applying specific interventions. The clinic 
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ensures that the traveller remains healthy 
during his travels and returns home 
healthy. it further, albeit by default also 
service the different employment groups 
at the airport as well as the surrounding 
business communities. The clinic is a 
member of Travax international Partners 
as well as South african Society of Travel 
medicine (SaSTm). 

2. Pharmacy  

Prime health brand carries the brand for 
our pharmacies which include the first 
ever 24-hour retail pharmacy in botswana 
located at the mRi house, plot 60601, 
block 7 in Gaborone. it is fully staffed by 
qualified pharmacists fully registered with 
the botswana health Professions council 
while our extended hours for medical 
practices and polyclinics carry the brand 
by providing doctors consultation till 8pm 
during weekdays. 

3. Emergency Medical Services 

mRib offers a countrywide emergency 
medical Services through a network of 
skilled paramedics, emergency doctors, 
nurses, emergency medical dispatchers, 
with ambulance bases operating from 
Gaborone, francistown, maun and Palapye. 
in order to provide further coverage for 
customer’s mRi botswana has recently 
opened two new ambulance bases in 
Kasane and Kanye.  mRib operates both 
ground and air ambulance services, the 
latter covers the entire country and extends 
regionally to cover calls for assistance 
outside of the national borders. The air 
ambulance is permanently equipped and 
allows for the treatment and transporting 
of all types of patients including critically 
ill neonates, cardiac patients, trauma 
patients and even ventilator-dependent 
patients to a hospital.

OPEN 24 HOURS

4. Global Medical Services 

mRib also operates Remote-Site medical 
services for a number of locations in 
the mining industry. mRis services here 
incorporate both emS response and 
evacuation, as well as occupational health 
and Primary healthcare solutions for our 
clients’ employees. We offer such clients 
an enhanced healthcare package including 
the setup, staffing and management of on-
site clinic facilities with additional staffing 
encompassing employee pre-employment 
screening, occupational health screening, 
general employee health matters, 
healthcare & social counselling services, 
and emergency incident response and 
management. Staffing is customised to the 
clients needs, from basic to advanced life 
support paramedics, occupational health 
nurses, and medical doctors.
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Mri OPErATiONAL HOurS
MRI operating hours;

• 24hour call centre
• 24hour pharmacy
• 24hour emergency medical services
• 24hour global medical services
 
MRIb exTenDeD hoURS FoR MeDICaL 
pRaCTICeS:

• monday – friday 8am to 8pm
• Saturday – 9am to 12pm
• open on holidays 

Southview 
Pty Ltd

MRI ShaRehoLDInG

MRI Ownership

MVA Individuals

MRI Botswana 
Limited [continued]

5. Call Centre

Our services are coordinated through our 
professional 24/7 Contact Centre which 
also houses government, parastatal and 
private call centres which are outsourced 
to it. Medical, health insurance, general 
insurance, Financial, educational and 
pharmaceutical calls are all answered by 
professionally trained Call Centre agents 
to provide information to a variety of 
callers. MRI Botswana has invested heavily 
into custom and internationally acclaimed 
turnkey software solutions for its medical 
call centre and associated contact centre 
needs.

PEOPLE 

MRI business growth has given employment 
opportunities to many deserving Batswana 
and now boasts a staff compliment of 
147 spread countrywide. A staggering 97 
percent are Batswana. 

Over the years our company has placed 
large emphasis in the development of 
people. We are a registered training centre 
with the Botswana Training Authority 
(BOTA). As such we provide corporate and 
private first aid and first responder training 
in Botswana. We are also a recognised 
American Heart Association (AHA) Training 
Site affiliated to the Resuscitation Council 
of Southern Africa - the only such site in 
Botswana offering advanced level courses 
to healthcare professionals including nurses 
and doctors.

MRI House 

Plot 60601 Block 7

Gaborone 

P/Bag BR256 

Gaborone, Botswana

Tel: (+267) 3903066 

Emergency: 992 / 3901601

Email: enquiries@mri.co.bw/lsebowe@mri.co.bw

Web: www.mri.co.bw 

MRI boaRD oF DIReCToRS

ManaGInG DIReCToR

opeRaTIonS ManaGeR:eMS
Advanced life Support (ALS)

Paramedic

phaRMaCy
SUPERITENDENT/ MANAGER:

(Pharmacist)

opeRaTIonS ManaGeR:
HEALTHCARE SERVICES

(Medical Doctor)

ConSULTanT
Ocupational Health 

Specialist

DiViSiONAL HEAD:
eMS & CaLL CenTReS

(Medical Doctor)

DiViSiONAL HEAD:
InTeGRaTeD heaLTh SeRvICeS

(vacant)
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Mri BOTSWANA
LiMiTED

24HR 
CALL CENTRE 

SERVICES

EMERGENCY 
MEDICAL SERVICES

EMS & HEALTH 
RISK TRAINING

HEALTH RISK 
ASSESSMENT (HRA) 
AND MANAGEMENT

ON-SITE MEDICAL 
CLINICS

OCCUPATIONAL 
WELLNESS 
SERVICES

GP CLINIC 
SERVICES

PRIMARY 
HEALTHCARE 

SERVICES

24HR DRUG 
MANAGEMENT & 

PHARMACY SERVICES

OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH SERVICES

EMErGENCy MEDiCAL 
SErViCES (EMS)

iNTEGrATED 
HEALTHCArE SErViCES

PHArMACy 
SErViCES
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about alpha access 

Alpha Access is a manufacturing and distribution company that was established to meet Botswana 
and the region’s needs for medical products. The company is wholly owned by Botswana citizens 
and is a 100% subsidiary of SouthView (Pty) Ltd.

established in 2013, the interest to 
pursue the business venture of condom 
manufacturing was in part conceived 
to assist the government of botswana 
in the fight against hiV / aidS and to 
secure the well-being of the population 
in the region in the management of 
hiV/aidS. Since there is yet no cure 
for aidS, alpha access endeavours to 
contribute to this cause by filling the 
condom manufacturing gap that exists 
within the health services industry in 
botswana and the region as a whole.

The business also contributes significantly 
to the economy of the country through 
employment creation as well as tax revenue 
for government.

The business

The company has won two distribution 
tenders in the region; one for 23 million 
condoms to the Government of botswana 
and another to supply 10 million condoms  
into South africa.

Products and services: 

• latex male condoms
• latex male condom testing and quality 

assurance 
• condom packaging
• condom distribution
• Provision of technical consultations on 

condom manufacturing 
• Quality control 
• assurance, packaging, marketing & 

distribution 

MAnUFACTUrErS OF LATEx MALE COndOMS And OThEr LATEx MEdiCAL PrOdUCTS

Alpha Access Profile
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equipment / production

alpha access is one of the condom factories 
in africa. Starting with a production 
capacity of 5 million condoms per month, 
alpha access is planning to increase this 
capacity and supply botswana and the 
whole region and hence capitalise on the 
advantage of being close to the massive 
african market. by the nature of its 
business, every growth in production will 
create additional jobs hence empowering 
more batswana. The targeted regional 
market is also very large, providing room 
for alpha access to grow the size of its 
operations.

Other medical products: 
• latex surgical gloves
• latex examination gloves
• female condoms

Corporate information 

alpha access contributes significantly 
to local employment creation in the 
manufacturing industry, with over seventy 
five	 employees,	 over	 97%	 of	 whom	 are	
batswana. 

vision

To be the leading 

manufacturer and supplier 

of condoms and medical 

products and equipment in 

Southern africa.

Mission 

To support our customers across Southern 
africa by providing superior products of 
exceptional quality and value.

values 

• QUALITY 

• INTEGRITY 

• ACCOUNTABILITY 

• TEAMWORK 

• RESPECT 

• RELATIONSHIPS
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Alpha Access Profile [continued]

•  Air inflation Test: Samples from each 
batch are inflated to test for burst-
strength and elasticity. 

•  Electrolyte Leak Test: a sample of 
condoms produced per batch are 
filled with electrolyte solution, and 
suspended in electrolyte solution for 1 
minute to check for leaks. 

•  Ageing Test: a set of samples from 
each batch produced undergoes an 
ageing study. The ageing oven is used 
to study degradation of the condoms by 
subjecting them to heat in a rotational 
condition for a specified time. a one-
week test at 70 degrees celsius in 
the ageing oven is the theoretical 
equivalent of a five year usage period 
in normal environmental conditions. 
Typically, alpha access condoms have 
a 5-year shelf life. 

Quality Assurance:
alpha access has a quality assurance 
laboratory of the highest international 
standards to monitor the quality of the 
condoms to ensure superior quality.
alpha access is proudly licensed by the drug 
Regulatory Unit of the ministry of health in 
botswana.

CERTIFICATION
• SabS

Company Structure:
The senior management structure of alpha 
access comprises:

• a General manager, who is the head 
of the factory and general business 
operations.

• a factory manager who is in charge of 
production.

• a Quality assurance manager, for 
quality control and assurance as well 
as plant maintenance.

Contact Us:
alpha access (PTY) ltd
Gaborone West industrial, 
Plot 22028, Unit 4
P o box 632, Gaborone
Tel: +267 310 2995/26
fax: +267 310 2954
email: admin@alphaaccess.co.bw

Quality Control: 
With strict Quality control Systems, a 
Quality assurance manager and a Quality 
assurance Team in place, we ensure 
compliance through rigorous product testing 
we ensure that our condoms are safe for 
use. our standard testing methods meet the 
iSo 4074:2002 and Who requirements. We 
conduct the following tests: 

• Electronic Test:	100%	of	 the	condoms	
produced are checked for pinholes, 
defects and imperfections. 

Manufacturing: 
alpha access produces, tests, seals and 
packages condoms for customers according 
to their unique requirements, using the 
same industry approved technology that is 
used by the big global manufacturers. 

The manufacture health products such as 
condoms requires highly specialised skills 
and  has to adhere to the highest quality 
standards set by a variety of international 
regulatory bodies including Who and SabS. 
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moraki mokgosana      
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bUSIneSS aDDReSS      
Plot 50638, fairgrounds office Park, Gaborone      
      
aUDIToRS      
deloitte & Touche, Plot 64518, fairgrounds, Gaborone      
      
banKeRS      
Standard chartered bank botswana limited      
first National bank of botswana limited      
barclays bank of botswana limited      
Stanbic bank of botswana limited      
african banking corporation of botswana limited
bank Gaborone limited       
      
evenTS aFTeR The RepoRTInG DaTe     
The board is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, not dealt with in this report or these 
financial statements which would have a material impact on the financial results or operations of the Group.
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boaRD oF TRUSTeeS’ ReSponSIbILITy STaTeMenT anD appRovaL oF 
The ConSoLIDaTeD FInanCIaL STaTeMenTS anD SepaRaTe FInanCIaL 
STaTeMenTS oF The SoCIeTy

boaRD oF TRUSTeeS’ ReSponSIbILITy 
STaTeMenT
The board of Trustees (“the board”) is 
responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated  financial 
statements and separate financial 
statements of botswana medical aid Society 
(“the Society”), comprising the consolidated 
and separate statements of financial position 
as at 31 december 2015, the consolidated 
and separate statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, in accordance with 
international financial Reporting Standards 
(“ifRS”) and in the manner required by the 
Society’s Rules and the Societies act of 
botswana.
 
The board is required by the Society’s 
Rules and the Societies act of botswana, to 
maintain adequate accounting records and 
are responsible for the content and integrity 
of and related financial information included 
in this report. it is their responsibility to 
ensure that the financial statements fairly 
present the state of affairs of the Group and 
Society as at the end of the financial year 
and the results of its operations and cash 
flows for the year then ended, in conformity 
with ifRS. The independent auditors are 
engaged to express an independent opinion 
on the financial statements.
 
The board’s responsibility includes: designing, 
implementing and maintaining internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of these financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and 
applying appropriate accounting policies; 
and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.
 

The financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with ifRS and in the manner 
required by the Society’s Rules and the 
Societies act of botswana and are based upon 
appropriate accounting policies consistently 
applied and supported by reasonable and 
prudent judgments and estimates.
 
The board’s responsibility also includes 
maintaining adequate accounting 
judgements and an effective system of risk 
management as well as the preparation of 
the supplementary schedules included in 
these financial statements.
 
The board acknowledge that they are 
ultimately responsible for the system of 
internal financial control established by the 
Society and place considerable importance on 
maintaining a strong control environment. 
To enable the board to meet these 
responsibilities, the board sets standards for 
internal control aimed at reducing the risk 
of error or loss in a cost effective manner. 
The standards include the proper delegation 
of responsibilities within a clearly defined 
framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure 
an acceptable level of risk. These controls 
are monitored throughout the Group and 
all employees are required to maintain the 
highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
Society’s business is conducted in a manner 
that in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. The focus of risk management 
in the Group is on identifying, assessing, 
managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the society. While operating 
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the Group 
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that 
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems 
and ethical behaviour are applied and 
managed within predetermined procedures 
and constraints.
 
The board has made an assessment of the 
ability of the Society and its subsidiaries 
to continue as going concerns and have no 
reason to believe these businesses will not be 
going concerns in the year ahead.

The independent auditors are responsible 
for independently reviewing and reporting 
on the consolidated and Society’s financial 
statements. The financial statements have 
been examined by the independent auditors 
and their report is presented on page 48.

DISCLoSURe oF aUDIT InFoRMaTIon
each of the Trustees at the date of approval 
of this report confirms that:

�	in so far as the Trustee is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which 
the Society’s auditor is unaware; and

�	the Trustee has taken all the steps that
he/she ought to have taken as a Trustee 
to make himself/herself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish 
that the Society’s auditor is aware of that 
information.

 
appRovaL oF The ConSoLIDaTeD 
FInanCIaL STaTeMenTS anD SepaRaTe 
FInanCIaL STaTeMenTS oF The SoCIeTy:
The consolidated financial statements and 
separate financial statements of the Society 
set out on pages 44 to 89, which have been 
prepared on the going concern basis, were 
approved by the board on 09 June 2016 and 
were signed on its behalf by:

 

Finance Sub-committee 
            

board Chairperson 
 

principal officer

47



InDepenDenT aUDIToR’S RepoRT

To The MeMbeRS oF 
boTSWana MeDICaL aID SoCIeTy
We have audited the accompanying 
consolidated and separate financial 
statements of botswana medical aid Society, 
which comprise the consolidated and 
separate statements of financial position 
at 31 december 2015, and the consolidated 
and separate statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity and cash flows 
for the year then ended, and a summary 
of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information, as set out on pages 
49 to 89.

boaRD oF TRUSTee’S ReSponSIbILITy FoR 
The FInanCIaL STaTeMenTS
The board of Trustee’s is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of 
these consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with international 
financial Reporting Standards and in the 
manner required by the Society’s Rules 
and the Societies act of botswana, and 
for such internal control as the board of 
Trustees determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated and separate 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement whether due to fraud 
or error.

aUDIToR’S ReSponSIbILITy
our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these consolidated and separate 
financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with 
international Standards on auditing. Those 
standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated and separate 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.
 
an audit involves performing procedures to 
obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the 
financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. in making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal controls 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in 
order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control. an audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

opInIon
in our opinion, the consolidated and separate 
financial statements give a true and fair view 
of, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of botswana medical aid Society 
at 31 december 2015, and its consolidated 
and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with 
international financial Reporting Standards 
and in the manner required by the Society’s 
Rules and the Societies act of botswana.

Deloitte & Touche 
certified auditors 
  
Gaborone
Practicing member: f c  els (19980074) 
  
09 June 2016
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STaTeMenTS oF CoMpRehenSIve InCoMe   
for the year ended 31 December 2015  

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
   notes 2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Revenue          
Revenue from contracts   23,088,815    48,110,235    -     -   
Revenue from sale of goods   24,872,512    167,175    -     -   
Subscriptions received   483,620,357    426,128,008    486,252,927    427,510,998 
ministry of health PPP revenue   -    6,857,796    -     6,857,796 
Wellness Program income   2,469,786    2,432,854    2,469,786    2,432,854 
    534,051,470    483,696,068    488,722,713    436,801,648 

Cost of services          
benefits paid  1  (380,151,740 )  (389,589,215 )  (447,008,600 )  (404,402,942 )
direct costs     (93,562,473 ) (50,538,247 )  -     -   
    (473,714,213 )  (440,127,462 )  (447,008,600 )  (404,402,942 )

Contribution surplus   60,337,257    43,568,606    41,714,113    32,398,706 
           
expenditure          
depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7  (5,224,763 ) (4,239,135 )  (986,654 )  (772,199 )
impairment loss on investment in subsidiary   (11,719,058 ) -    (24,980,195 ) -   
impairment loss on goodwill    (9,083,105 )  -    -     -   
administration expenses   (84,887,001 )  (55,762,886 )  (23,943,982 )  (9,934,933 )
administration fees   (4,984,971 ) (4,901,360 )  (46,526,402 )  (45,746,028 )
    (115,898,898 )  (64,903,381 )  (96,437,233 )  (56,453,160 )
operating deficit  2  (55,561,641 )  (21,334,775 )  (54,723,120 )  (24,054,454 )
interest received  3  5,022,936    5,208,089    4,906,732    5,084,763 
finance costs  4  (1,287,015 )  (1,115,504 )  (1,024 )  -   
dividend and other income  5  21,748,065    9,003,268    22,855,271    8,889,969 
    25,483,986    13,095,853    27,760,979    13,974,732 
           
deficit before taxation   (30,077,655 )  (8,238,922 )  (26,962,141 )  (10,079,722 )
Taxation  6  (462,124 )  (1,834,687 ) -    -   
deficit for the year   (30,539,779 )  (10,073,609 )  (26,962,141 )  (10,079,722 )
           

49



STaTeMenTS oF CoMpRehenSIve InCoMe (continued)   
for the year ended 31 December 2015  

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
   notes 2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

other comprehensive income           
items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss          
 
Gain on revaluation of property    2,501,675    -    1,472,556    -   
           
items that may be reclassified subsequently          
to profit or loss          
 
Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets   19,894,954    2,719,339    19,894,954    2,719,339 
Reclassification adjustments relating to available-for-sale          
  financial assets disposed during the year    (11,439,076 )  -    (11,439,076 )  -   
low claims reserve payments during the year    (5,818 )  (9,217 )  (5,818 )  (9,217 )
Total comprehensive deficit for the year    (19,588,044 )  (7,363,487 )  (17,039,525 )  (7,369,600 )
           
attributable to:          
Non-controlling interests    432,104    185,895    -     -   
members of the Society    (20,020,148 )  (7,549,382 )  (17,039,525 )  (7,369,600 )
     (19,588,044 )  (7,363,487 )  (17,039,525 )  (7,369,600 )
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STaTeMenTS oF FInanCIaL poSITIon   
at 31 December 2015  

  CONSOLiDATED   
      notes  2015   2014
         p   p

aSSeTS           
non-current assets           
Property, plant and equipment      7    57,224,332    58,849,591 
Goodwill     8   -     9,083,105 
available for sale investments     10   143,563,885    197,080,513 
         200,788,217    265,013,209 
Current assets           
inventories     11   2,692,737    4,618,344 
Trade and other receivables     12   22,323,244    21,313,313 
Short term investments     13   72,500,994    70,080,939 
cash and cash equivalents      14   91,315,941    26,369,495 
Taxation refundable        3,042,953    2,324,505 
         191,875,869    124,706,596 

Total assets        392,664,086    389,719,805 

equity and liabilities           
Funds and reserves           
accumulated funds        78,624,238    109,260,041 
low claim reserve        468,522    474,340 
Revaluation reserves     15   201,236,478    190,615,005 
equity attributable to members of the Society        280,329,238    300,349,386 
Non-controlling interests        1,544,527    1,114,153 
         281,873,765    301,463,539 
non-current liabilities           
finance lease obligations     16   362,065    435,697 
bank loans      17   1,003,941    1,866,835 
Property development loans     18   15,365,940    9,665,315 
deferred rental liability      20   155,945    114,610 
deferred taxation     19   1,397,266    1,331,369 
         18,285,157    13,413,826 
Current liabilities           
Trade and other payables     21   36,097,907    22,794,818 
Subscriptions received in advance     22   611,492    961,071 
outstanding cheques for claims      14   9,500,162    9,897,215 
outstanding claims      23   42,581,264    37,008,294 
current portion of finance lease obligations     16   472,920    655,772 
current portion of bank loans      17   966,648    1,253,673 
current portion of property development loan      18   1,641,496    510,091 
bank overdraft     14   633,275    1,761,506 
         92,505,164    74,842,440 
 
Total equity and liabilities        392,664,086    389,719,805 
           
 

51



STaTeMenTS oF FInanCIaL poSITIon (continued)   
at 31 December 2015  

  SEPArATE   
      notes  2015   2014
         p   p

aSSeTS           
non-current assets           
Property, plant and equipment     7   22,761,791    22,210,189 
investment in subsidiaries     9   8,433,347    33,413,542 
available for sale investments     10   143,563,885    197,080,513 
         174,759,023    252,704,244 
        
Current assets        
Trade and other receivables     12   23,969,880    26,917,958 
Short term investments     13   72,500,994    70,080,939 
cash and cash equivalents      14   80,418,593    17,906,120 
         176,889,467    114,905,017 
        
Total assets        351,648,490    367,609,261 
        
eQUITy        
        
Funds and reserves        
accumulated funds        80,665,703    107,627,844 
low claim reserve        468,522    474,340 
Revaluation reserves     15   200,543,439    190,615,005 
         281,677,664    298,717,189 
        
Current liabilities        
Trade and other payables     21   8,459,218    21,025,492 
Subscriptions received in advance     22   611,492    961,071 
outstanding cheques for claims      14   9,500,162    9,897,215 
outstanding claims      23   51,399,954    37,008,294 
         69,970,826    68,892,072 
        
Total equity and liabilities        351,648,490    367,609,261 
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STaTeMenTS oF ChanGeS In eQUITy
for the year ended 31 December 2015

       Total funds  non-  
 accumulated   Low claim  Revaluation  attributable  controlling
 funds  reserve  reserves  to members  interests  Total
 p  p  p  p  p  p

Consolidated           
balance at 1 January 2014 119,519,545    483,557    187,895,666    307,898,768    1,111,726    309,010,494 
acquisition of controlling interest  -    -    -    -    (107,500 )  (107,500 )
Total comprehensive 
(deficit)/surplus for the year  (10,259,504 )  (9,217 )  2,719,339    (7,549,382 )  185,895    (7,363,487 )
deficit for the year  (10,259,504 )  -    -    (10,259,504 )  185,895    (10,073,609 )
Net fair value gain on 
available-for-sale financial assets  -    -    2,719,339    2,719,339    -     2,719,339 
Payments during the year  -    (9,217 )  -    (9,217 )  -     (9,217 )
dividends paid -    -    -    -    (75,968 )  (75,968 )
balance at 31 december 2014 109,260,041    474,340    190,615,005    300,349,386    1,114,153    301,463,539 
             
acquisition of controlling interest -    -    -    -    -     - 
Total comprehensive 
(deficit)/surplus for the year  (30,635,803 )  (5,818 )  10,621,473    (20,020,148 )  432,104    (19,588,044 )
deficit for the year  (30,635,803 )  -    -    (30,635,803 )  96,024    (30,539,779 )
Gain on revaluation of property  -    -    2,165,595    2,165,595    336,080    2,501,675 
Net fair value gain on 
available-for-sale financial assets -    -    19,894,954    19,894,954    -    19,894,954 
Reclassification adjustments relating to 
available-for-sale financial assets disposed  -    -    (11,439,076 )  (11,439,076 )  -    (11,439,076 )
Payments during the year  -    (5,818 ) -    (5,818 )  -    (5,818 )
acquisition of controlling interest  -    -    -    -    (1,730 )  (1,730 )
balance at 31 december 2015  78,624,238    468,522    201,236,478    280,329,238    1,544,527    281,873,765 
             
Separate             
balance at 1 January 2014 117,707,566   483,557   187,895,666    306,086,789    -   306,086,789
Total comprehensive 
(deficit)/surplus for the year (10,079,722 )  (9,217 )  2,719,339    (7,369,600 )  -    (7,369,600 )
deficit for the year (10,079,722 )  -    -    (10,079,722 )  -    (10,079,722 )
Revaluation of 
available-for-sale investments -    -    2,719,339    2,719,339    -    2,719,339 
Payments during the year  -    (9,217 )  -    (9,217 )  -    (9,217 )
balance at 31 december 2014  107,627,844    474,340    190,615,005    298,717,189    -    298,717,189 
             
Total comprehensive 
(deficit)/surplus for the year (26,962,141 )  (5,818 )  9,928,434    (17,039,525 )  -    (17,039,525 )
deficit for the year  (26,962,141 )  -    -    (26,962,141 )  -    (26,962,141 )
Gains on revaluation of property -   -   1,472,556    1,472,556    -    1,472,556 
Net fair value gain on 
available-for-sale financial assets -    -    19,894,954    19,894,954    -    19,894,954 
Reclassification adjustments relating to 
available-for-sale financial assets disposed -   -   (11,439,076 )  (11,439,076 )  -    (11,439,076 )
Payments during the year -    (5,818 )  -    (5,818 )  -    (5,818 )
balance at 31 december 2015 80,665,703    468,522    200,543,439    281,677,664    -    281,677,664 
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STaTeMenTS oF CaSh FLoWS
for the year ended 31 December 2015  

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
   notes 2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

opeRaTInG aCTIvITIeS          
deficit before taxation    (30,077,655 )  (8,238,922 )  (26,962,141 )  (10,079,722 )
adjusted for:         
impairment of goodwill    9,083,105    -     -    - 
impairment loss on investment in subsidiary    11,719,058     -     24,980,195    - 
depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7  5,224,763    4,239,135    986,654    772,199 
Profit on disposal of plant and equipment    (6,858 )  289,976    -    - 
movement in operating lease accrual    41,335    63,681    -    - 
movement in allowance for doubtful debts    19,381,939     (551,532 )  11,361,160    - 
Profit on disposal of available for sale investment   (14,631,584 )  -     (14,631,584 )  - 
interest paid  4  1,287,015    1,115,504    1,024    - 
interest received    3  (5,022,936 )  (5,208,089 )  (4,906,732 )  (5,084,763 )
dividends received   5  (4,752,731 )  (4,373,536 )  (4,752,731 )  (5,308,408 )
cash used in operations     (7,754,549 )  (12,663,783 )  (13,924,155 )  (19,700,694 )
movement in trade and other receivables    (23,125,079 )  1,369,110    (8,413,082 )   (1,790,327 )
movement in inventories    (1,780,878 )   (3,266,548 )  -    1,107,060 
movement in subscriptions received in advance   (349,579 )  642,515    (349,579 )  642,515 
movement in trade and other payables     13,303,089    5,007,437    (12,566,274 )  2,251,510 
movement in retention payable    -     (271,109 )  -    - 
movement in outstanding claims     5,572,970    (1,741,623 )  14,391,660    (1,741,623 )
cash used in normal operations    (14,073,263 )  (10,924,001 )  (20,861,430 )  (19,231,559 )
finance costs    (1,347,778 )  (1,115,504 )  (1,024 )  - 
Tax paid    (1,114,675 )  (4,162,653 )  -    - 
Net cash used in operating activities     (16,535,716 )  (16,202,158 )  (20,862,454 )  (19,231,559 )

InveSTInG aCTIvITIeS         
Net movements in disposal/(purchase) of investments    74,184,035    (4,935,031 )  74,184,035    (4,935,031 )
acquisition of controlling interest    (1,730 )  (107,500 )  -    - 
investment in subsidiary    -     -     -    (4,384,798 )
Purchase of plant and equipment  7  (6,380,735 )  (8,441,754 )  (65,700 )  (108,477 )
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment    10,400    -     -    - 
interest received   3  5,022,936    5,208,089    4,906,732    5,084,763 
dividends received   5  4,752,731    4,373,536    4,752,731    5,308,408 
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities    77,587,637    (3,902,660 )  83,777,798    964,865 
         
FInanCInG aCTIvITIeS          
finance obtained     7,360,000    -     -    - 
capital repayment of borrowings    (1,934,373 )  (1,920,056 )  -    - 
benefits paid through low claims reserve     (5,818 )  (9,217 )  (5,818 )  (9,217 )
dividends paid    -     (75,968 )  -    - 
Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities   5,419,809    (2,005,241 )  (5,818 )  (9,217 )
Net movement in cash and cash equivalents     66,471,730    (22,110,059 )  62,909,526    (18,275,911 )
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   14,710,774    36,820,833    8,008,905    26,284,816 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year    81,182,504    14,710,774    70,918,431    8,008,905 
         
Represented by:         
bank and cash balances     91,315,941    26,369,495    80,418,593    17,906,120 
bank overdraft    (633,275 )  (1,761,506 )  -    - 
outstanding cheques for claims     (9,500,162 )  (9,897,215 )  (9,500,162 )  (9,897,215 )
   14  81,182,504    14,710,774    70,918,431    8,008,905 
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SUMMaRy SIGnIFICanT aCCoUnTInG poLICIeS
31 December 2015  

botswana medical aid Society is a medical 
aid fund registered in botswana under the 
Society’s act. These financial statements 
represent its statutory financial statements. 
The consolidated financial statements 
comprise the consolidated financial position 
and results of the Society and its subsidiaries 
(together referred to as the “Group”). The 
accounting policies below apply to both 
the consolidated and separate financial 
statements.
 
STaTeMenT oF CoMpLIanCe
The financial statements have been prepared, 
in all material respects, in accordance with 
international financial Reporting Standards 
(ifRS) and in the manner required by the 
Society’s Rules and the Societies act of 
botswana.
 
baSIS oF pRepaRaTIon
The financial statements are presented in 
botswana Pula, which is also the functional 
currency. 
 
The financial statements are prepared on 
the historical cost basis except for certain 
financial instruments and leasehold land and 
buildings which are stated at fair value. The 
accounting policies have been consistently 
applied by the Group and are consistent with 
those used in the previous year.
 
The preparation of financial statements 
in conformity with international financial 
Reporting Standards requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of 
policies and reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that are believed to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the 
results which form the basis of making the 
judgements about carrying values of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. actual results may differ 
from these estimates.
 

The estimates and underlying assumptions 
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions 
to accounting estimates are recognised in 
the year in which the estimate is revised, 
if the revision affects only that year, or in 
the year of the revision and future years if 
the revision affects both current and future 
years.
 
Significant judgements in the application of 
international financial Reporting Standards 
consist mainly of the evaluation of the 
carrying amount of goodwill for possible 
impairment (per note 8), the evaluation of 
the carrying amount of the investment in 
subsidiaries for possible impairment (per 
note 9), the assessment of residual values 
and depreciation rates applied to property, 
plant and equipment items (per note 7), the 
revaluation of leasehold land and buildings, 
(per note 7) the evaluation of trade and 
other receivables for possible impairment 
(per note 12) and calculating the provision 
for outstanding claims (per note 23). 
 
baSIS oF ConSoLIDaTIon
The consolidated financial statements 
incorporate the financial statements of the 
Society and entities (including structured 
entities) controlled by the Society and its 
subsidiaries. control is achieved when the 
Society:

� has power over the investee;
� is exposed, or has rights, to variable

returns from its involvement with the 
investee; and

� has the ability to use its power to affect
 its returns.

The Society reassesses whether or not it 
controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or 
more of the three elements of control listed 
above.

When the Society has less than a majority of 
the voting rights of an investee, it has power 
over the investee when the voting rights are 
sufficient to give it the practical ability to 
direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. 

The Society considers all relevant facts and 
circumstances in assessing whether or not 
the Society’s voting rights in an investee are 
sufficient to give it power, including:

� the size of the Society’s holding of voting
rights relative to the size and dispersion of 
holdings of the other vote holders;

� potential voting rights held by the Society, 
 other vote holders or other parties;
� rights arising from other contractual
 arrangements; and
� any additional facts and circumstances

that indicate that the Society has, or 
does not have, the current ability to 
direct the relevant activities at the time 
that decisions need to be made, including 
voting patterns at previous members’ 
meetings.

consolidation of a subsidiary begins 
when the Society obtains control over the 
subsidiary and ceases when the Society loses 
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income 
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or 
disposed of during the year are included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income from 
the date the Society gains control until the 
date when the Society ceases to control the 
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other 
comprehensive income are attributed to 
the owners of the Society and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive 
income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Society and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in 
the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies into line with 
the Group’s accounting policies.

all intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, 
income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group 
are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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non-ConTRoLLInG InTeReSTS
Non-controlling interests are measured, at 
initial recognition, as the non-controlling 
proportion of the fair values of the assets 
and liabilities recognised at acquisition. after 
initial recognition, non-controlling interests 
are measured as the aggregate of the value 
at initial recognition and their subsequent 
proportionate share of profits and losses.

InveSTMenT In SUbSIDIaRIeS
The investments in subsidiaries are carried 
at cost less any accumulated impairment 
losses.
 
The cost of an investment in a subsidiary is 
the aggregate of:

� the fair value, at the date of exchange, 
of assets given, liabilities incurred, and 
equity instruments issued by the Society, 
and

� any costs directly attributable to the
 purchase of the subsidiary.

GooDWILL
Goodwill represents amounts arising on 
acquisition of business units. The goodwill 
consists of the difference between the cost of 
the acquisition and the fair value of the net 
identifiable assets acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses. Goodwill is not amortised 
but tested annually for impairment. Goodwill 
is reviewed annually for events or changes in 
circumstances which may indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. an 
impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.

pRopeRTy, pLanT anD eQUIpMenT
Property, plant and equipment, with the 
exception of leasehold land and buildings, are 
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment in value.
 
leasehold land and buildings are stated at 
valuation on the basis of the most recently 
established open market values with current 

additions measured at cost. Valuations are 
obtained from professional independent 
third parties with sufficient regularity to 
ensure that the carrying amount does not 
differ materially from that which would have 
been determined using fair value at the 
reporting date. The Group currently obtains 
valuations of leasehold land and buildings 
every five years.

any revaluation increase arising on the 
revaluation of such land and buildings is 
recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated under the heading of 
properties revaluation reserve, except to the 
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 
for the same asset previously recognised 
in profit or loss, in which case the increase 
is credited to profit or loss to the extent 
of the decrease previously expensed. a 
decrease in the carrying amount arising on 
the revaluation of such land and buildings 
is recognised in profit or loss to the extent 
that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in 
the properties revaluation reserve relating to 
a previous revaluation of that asset. 

DepReCIaTIon
depreciation is recognised in profit or loss 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of property, plant and equipment 
items. The residual value and useful life 
of each property, plant and equipment 
item, if not insignificant, are reassessed 
annually. The depreciation on revalued 
buildings is recognised in the profit or loss. 
on the subsequent sale or retirement of 
revalued land and buildings the attributable 
revaluation surplus remaining in the 
properties revaluation reserve is transferred 
directly to retained earnings. 

The estimated useful lives of property, plant 
and equipment items are as follows:

� leasehold land Remaining period 
 and buildings of lease 
� motor vehicles 4 years
� Plant and machinery 12 years
� equipment, furniture 4 - 10 years 
 and fittings  

Work-in-progress includes the costs of 
materials, labour and other costs incurred 
in the construction of work-in-progress 
at reporting date. Work-in-progress 
is transferred to property, plant and 
equipment when the assets are completed 
and commissioned. Work-in-progress is not 
depreciated and depreciation will commence 
at the earliest of when the asset is available 
for use or when the asset is commissioned.

Gains and losses on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment items are determined 
by comparing proceeds with the carrying 
amounts and are included in profit or loss.

an item of property, plant and equipment 
is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to 
arise from the continued use of the asset. 
any gain or loss arising on the disposal or 
retirement of an item of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the asset and is recognised in 
profit or loss.

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised 
in profit or loss during the financial year in 
which these costs are incurred. The cost 
of a major renovation is included in the 
carrying amount of the related asset when 
it is probable that future economic benefits 
in excess of the originally assessed standard 
performance of the existing asset will flow to 
the Group. major renovations are depreciated 
over the remaining useful life of the related 
asset. 

IMpaIRMenT oF non-FInanCIaL aSSeTS
The carrying values of the Group’s non-
financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. if any such 
indication exists then the asset’s recoverable 
amount is estimated.
 
an impairment loss is recognised if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-
generating unit exceeds its recoverable 
amount. a cash-generating unit is the 
smallest identifiable asset group that 
generates cash inflows that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or asset groups. 
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an impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset 
is carried at a revalued amount, in which 
case the impairment loss is treated as 
a revaluation decrease. The recoverable 
amount of an asset or cash-generating 
unit is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less cost to sell. in assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using 
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risk specific to the asset.

impairment losses recognised in the prior 
periods are assessed at each reporting date 
for any indication that these losses have 
decreased or no longer exist. an impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. an impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, 
net of depreciation and amortisation, if no 
impairment was recognised. a reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is 
carried at a revalued amount, in which case 
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated 
as a revaluation increase.

InvenToRIeS
inventories are stated at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Net realisable value 
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs 
of completion and selling expenses.
 
The cost of inventories is calculated on 
the first-in-first-out basis and includes 
expenditure incurred in acquiring the 
inventories and bringing them to their 
existing location and condition. obsolete, 
redundant and slow moving inventories are 
identified on a regular basis and are written 
down to their estimated net realisable values.

TaxaTIon
income tax expense represents the sum of 
the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
 

Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable 
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs 
from profit as reported in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income because 
of items of income or expense that are 
taxable or deductible in other years and 
items that are never taxable or deductible. 
The Group’s liability for current tax is 
calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax
deferred tax is recognised on temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated 
financial statements and the corresponding 
tax bases used in the computation of taxable 
profit. deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognised for all taxable temporary 
differences. deferred tax assets are generally 
recognised for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profits will be available against 
which those deductible temporary differences 
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary 
difference arises from goodwill or from the 
initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in 
a transaction that affects neither the taxable 
profit nor the accounting profit.
 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for 
taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries and 
associates, and interests in joint ventures, 
except where the Group is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and 
it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
deferred tax assets arising from deductible 
temporary differences associated with 
such investments and interests are only 
recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there will be sufficient taxable profits 
against which to utilise the benefits of the 
temporary differences and they are expected 
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets 
is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits 
will be available to allow all or part of the 
asset to be recovered.
 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
measured at the tax rates that are expected 
to apply in the period in which the liability 
is settled or the asset realised, based on tax 
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period. The measurement of 
deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Group expects, at 
the end of the reporting period, to recover 
or settle the carrying amount of its assets 
and liabilities. 

Current and deferred tax for the year
current and deferred tax are recognised 
in profit or loss, except when they relate 
to items that are recognised in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
in which case, the current and deferred tax 
are also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity respectively. 
Where current tax or deferred tax arises 
from the initial accounting for a business 
combination, the tax effect is included in the 
accounting for the business combination. 
 
The Society is not subject to taxation as it is 
exempt from taxation in terms of the second 
schedule of the botswana income Tax act 
(chapter 52:01).  

LoW CLaIM ReSeRve
The Group rewards members who make low 
or no claims. The reward is comprised of 
increased claim limits.  Where necessary, a 
transfer is made each year from the operating 
surplus to the low claims reserve and costs 
of the increased limits are charged to the 
reserve. The reserve is however available for 
other purposes as may be determined by the 
management committee and members.
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eMpLoyee beneFITS
The Group has defined contribution 
pension schemes which are funded through 
payments to insurance companies. a defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the Group pays fixed contributions 
into a separate fund and will have no legal 
or constructive obligations to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits 
relating to employee services in the current 
and prior periods. contributions to an 
approved defined contribution pension plan 
are recognised in profit or loss in the year to 
which these costs relate.
 
employees who are not members of these 
approved pension funds and are not 
entitled to gratuities per their employment 
contracts, are entitled to severance benefits 
as regulated by the labour act applicable in 
botswana.
 
employee entitlements to annual leave, 
bonuses, medical aid, pension contributions 
and housing benefits are recognised when 
they accrue to employees and an accrual is 
recognised for the estimated liability as a 
result of services rendered by employees up 
to the reporting date. 

LeaSeS
leases are classified as finance leases 
whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. all other leases are 
classified as operating leases.
 
assets held under finance leases are initially 
recognised as assets of the Group at their 
fair value at the inception of the lease or, if 
lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The corresponding liability 
to the lessor is included in the statements 
of financial position as a finance lease 
obligation.
 
lease payments are apportioned between 
finance expenses and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate 
of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. 

finance expenses are recognised immediately 
in profit or loss, unless they are directly 
attributable to qualifying assets, in which 
case they are capitalised in accordance with 
the Group’s general policy on borrowing 
costs. contingent rentals are recognised as 
expenses in the periods in which they are 
incurred.
 
operating lease payments are recognised 
as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. contingent rentals arising 
under operating leases are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred.
 
in the event that lease incentives are received 
to enter into operating leases, such incentives 
are recognised as a liability. The aggregate 
benefit of incentives is recognised as a 
reduction of rental expense on a straight-
line basis.
 
FInanCe CoSTS
finance costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of 
an asset that necessarily takes a substantial 
period of time to get ready for its intended 
use or sale are capitalised as part of the 
cost of the asset. all other finance costs are 
expensed in the period in which they occur. 
finance costs consist of interest and other 
costs that an entity incurs in connection with 
the borrowing of funds.

pRovISIonS
a provision is recognised in the statements 
of financial position when the Group has a 
present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, and it is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation. if the effect 
is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability.

oUTSTanDInG CLaIMS
accruals are made for estimated outstanding 
claims incurred during the financial year, net 
of members portions, which are payable in 
the succeeding financial year. members have 
up to four months to submit their claims.

RevenUe
Revenue comprises the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable for the 
sale of goods and the rendering of services in 
the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. 
 
Revenue from the sale of goods is exclusive of 
VaT and discounts granted and is recognised 
in profit or loss when the following conditions 
have been satisfied:
 
� The Group has transferred to the

buyer the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the goods;

� The Group retains neither continuing
managerial involvement to the degree 
usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold;

� The amount of the revenue can be
 measured reliably;
� it is probable that the economic benefits

associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Group; and

� The costs incurred or to be incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably.

 
Revenue from rendering of services is 
exclusive of VaT and discounts granted 
and is recognised in profit or loss when the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

� The amount of revenue can be measured
 reliably;
� The stage of completion of the

transaction at the reporting date can be 
measured reliably;

� it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow 
to the Group; and 

� The costs incurred or to be incurred in
respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably. 

 
DIvIDenD InCoMe anD InTeReST InCoMe
interest income is recognised as it accrues, 
using the effective interest rate method. 
dividend income is recognised in the period 
in which the dividends are declared. 
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FoReIGn CURRenCy TRanSaCTIonS
in preparing the financial statements of each 
individual entity, transactions in currencies 
other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. at the end of each reporting 
period, monetary items denominated in 
foreign currencies are retranslated at 
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that 
are denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
date when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are not retranslated.

FInanCIaL InSTRUMenTS
financial assets and financial liabilities are 
recognised when a group entity becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 
 
financial assets and financial liabilities are 
initially measured at fair value. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and 
financial liabilities (other than financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss) are added to or 
deducted from the fair value of the financial 
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition. Transaction costs 
directly attributable to the acquisition of 
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss. 

The Group’s principal financial assets and 
liabilities comprise of the following:

FInanCIaL aSSeTS

Cash and cash equivalents 
cash and cash equivalents are defined as 
cash on hand, demand deposits and short-
term highly liquid investments readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and 
subject to insignificant risk of changes in 
value.

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less an impairment 
accrual. an accrual for impairment of trade 
receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability 
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or 
financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments (more than 120 
days overdue) are considered indicators that 
the trade receivable is impaired. 

Amounts due from related entities
The amounts due from related entities are 
recognised and carried at original invoice 
amount less impairment charges. an 
estimate for impairment charges is made 
when collection of the full amount is no 
longer probably. impairment charges are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Available for sale investments
available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. 
investments, including managed funds, are 
classified as available for sale investments 
and are measured subsequently at fair value. 
The fair value of the trading investments is 
based on quoted bid prices. Gains and losses 
arising on the fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive  income and 
accumulated under the heading revaluation 
reserve for available for sale. When these 
investments are derecognised, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously recognised in equity 
is included in profit or loss. available for sale 
investments are recognised or derecognised 
by the Group on the date it commits to 
purchase or sell the investment.

IMpaIRMenT oF FInanCIaL aSSeTS
a financial asset is assessed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is 
any objective evidence that it is impaired. a 
financial asset is considered to be impaired 
if objective evidence indicates that one or 
more events had a negative effect on the 
estimated future cash flows of that asset.

an impairment loss in respect of the 
financial asset measured at amortised cost 
is calculated as the difference between its 
carrying amount, and the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows discounted 
at the original effective interest rate.
 
Significant financial assets are tested for 
impairment on an individual basis. The 
remaining financial assets are assessed 
collectively in groups that share similar credit 
risk characteristics.
 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or 
loss. an impairment loss is reversed if the 
reversal can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised. The reversal of the impairment 
loss is recognised in profit or loss.
 
FInanCIaL LIabILITIeS
 
Trade and other payables
liabilities for trade and other amounts 
payable, which are normally settled on 30 to 
90 day terms, are carried at cost which is the 
fair value of the consideration to be paid in 
the future for goods and services received, 
whether or not billed to the Group.

Amounts due to related entities
amounts due to related entities are carried 
at cost which is the fair value of the 
consideration to be paid in the future for 
goods and services received. 
 
Interest bearing liabilities
interest bearing loans and borrowings are 
initially recognised at cost, being the fair 
value of the consideration received and 
include acquisition charges associated with 
the borrowing/loan. after initial recognition, 
all interest bearing loans and borrowings, 
other than liabilities held for trading, are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. 
amortised cost is calculated by taking 
into account any discount or premium on 
settlement.
 
for liabilities carried at amortised cost (which 
are not part of a hedging relationship), any 
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss when 
the liability is de-recognised or impaired, as 
well as through the amortisation process.
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De-ReCoGnITIon oF FInanCIaL 
aSSeTS anD FInanCIaL LIabILITIeS
The Group derecognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows 
from the asset expire, or when it transfers 
the financial asset and substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the asset to another entity. if the Group 
neither transfers nor retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership and 
continues to control the transferred asset, 
the Group recognises its retained interest 
in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. if the Group 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, 
the Group continues to recognise the financial 
asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received. 
 
on derecognition of a financial asset 
measured at amortised cost, the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and 
the sum of the consideration received 
and receivable is recognised in profit or 
loss. on derecognition of a financial asset 
that is classified as fair value through 
other comprehensive income (fVToci), 
the cumulative gain or loss previously 
accumulated in the investments revaluation 
reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, 
but is reclassified to retained earnings. 

The Group derecognises financial liabilities 
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations 
are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The 
difference between the carrying amount of 
the financial liability derecognised and the 
consideration paid and payable, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
oFFSeT
financial assets and financial liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported in the 
statements of financial position when the 
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts, and intends either 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

aMoRTISeD CoST anD eFFeCTIve InTeReST 
MeThoD
The effective interest method is a method 
of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income 
over the relevant period. The effective 
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts (including all 
fees and points paid or received that form 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the 
debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on 
initial recognition. income is recognised on an 
effective interest basis for debt instruments 
measured subsequently at amortised cost. 
interest income is recognised in profit or loss 
and is included in the “interest received” line 
item.

ConTInGenT LIabILITIeS
management performs ongoing analysis 
of all claims, litigation and other legal and 
business matters instituted against the 
group to identify contingent liabilities in 
accordance with the requirements of iaS 
37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets.

The group does not recognise contingent 
liabilities. contingent liabilities are disclosed, 
unless the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is 
remote.

ReLaTeD paRTy TRanSaCTIonS
Related parties are defined as those parties 
that:

(a) directly, or indirectly through one or
 more intermediaries:
 i. control, are controlled by, or are

under common control with, the 
entity (this includes parents, 
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

ii. have an interest in the entity that
 gives it significant influence over 
 the entity; or

(b) are members of the key management
personnel of the entity or its parent 
including close members of the family.

CRITICaL jUDGeMenTS In appLyInG 
aCCoUnTInG poLICIeS anD Key SoURCeS 
oF eSTIMaTIon UnCeRTaInTy
The following are the critical judgements, 
apart from those involving estimations, 
that the Trustees have made in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies 
and that have the most significant effect on 
the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill
determining whether goodwill is impaired 
requires an estimation of the value in 
use of the cash-generating units to which 
goodwill has been allocated. The value in use 
calculation requires the Trustees to estimate 
the future cash flows expected to arise from 
the cash-generating unit and a suitable 
discount rate in order to calculate present 
value.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The Group reviews the estimated useful lives 
of property, plant and equipment at the end 
of each reporting period. 

Allowance for doubtful debts
The group assesses its trade receivables, 
held to maturity investments and loans and 
receivables for impairment at the end of each 
reporting period. in determining whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded in profit 
or loss, the group makes judgements as to 
whether there is observable data indicating a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables, held 
to maturity investments and loans and 
receivables is calculated on a portfolio basis, 
based on historical loss ratios, adjusted for 
national and industry-specific economic 
conditions and other indicators present 
at the reporting date that correlate with 
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss 
ratios are applied to loan balances in the 
portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss 
emergence period.
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Available for sale listed investments 
The group follows the guidance of iaS 39 
to determine when an available-for-sale 
financial asset is impaired. This determination 
requires significant judgment. in making this 
judgment, the group evaluates, among other 
factors, the duration and extent to which the 
fair value of an investment is less than its 
cost; and the financial health of and near-
term business outlook for the investee, 
including factors such as industry and sector 
performance, changes in technology and 
operational and financing cash flow.

Allowance for slow moving, 
damaged and obsolete stock
an allowance to write down stock to the lower 
of cost or net realisable value. management 
has made estimates on the selling price and 
direct costs to sell on certain inventory items. 

Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments 
traded in active markets (such as trading 
and available-for-sale securities) is based 
on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period. The quoted market price 
used for financial assets held by the group is 
the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments 
that are not traded in an active market is 
determined by using valuation techniques. 
The group uses a variety of methods and 
makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at the end of 
each reporting period. Quoted market prices 
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are 
used for long-term debt. other techniques, 
such as estimated discounted cash flows, 
are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. The fair 
value of interest rate swaps is calculated as 
the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign 
exchange contracts is determined using 
quoted forward exchange rates at the end of 
the reporting period.

The carrying value less impairment provision 
of trade receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The fair value of financial liabilities 
for disclosure purposes is estimated by 
discounting the future contractual cash flows 
at the current market interest rate that is 
available to the group for similar financial 
instruments

Impairment testing for investments in 
subsidiaries
The recoverable amounts of cash-generating 
units and individual assets have been 
determined based on the higher of value-
in-use calculations and fair values less costs 
to sell. These calculations require the use of 
estimates and assumptions. it is reasonably 
possible that the cash flows assumption 
may change which may then impact our 
estimations and may then require a material 
adjustment to the carrying value of goodwill 
and tangible assets.

The Group reviews and tests the carrying 
value of assets when events or changes in 
circumstances suggest that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. in addition, 
goodwill is tested on an annual basis for 
impairment. assets are grouped at the lowest 
level for which identifiable cash flows are 
largely independent of cash flows of other 
assets and liabilities. if there are indications 
that impairment may have occurred, 
estimates are prepared of expected future 
cash flows for each group of assets. expected 
future cash flows used to determine the 
value in use of goodwill and tangible assets 
are inherently uncertain and could materially 
change over time. 

Taxation
Judgement is required in determining 
the provision for income taxes due to the 
complexity of legislation. There are many 
transactions and calculations for which the 
ultimate tax determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. The 
Group recognises liabilities for anticipated 
tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is 
different from the amounts that were initially 

recorded, such differences will impact the 
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the 
period in which such determination is made.

The Group recognises the net future tax 
benefit related to deferred income tax 
assets to the extent that it is probable that 
the deductible temporary differences will 
reverse in the foreseeable future. assessing 
the recoverability of deferred income tax 
assets requires the group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future 
taxable income. estimates of future taxable 
income are based on forecast cash flows from 
operations and the application of existing 
tax laws in each jurisdiction. To the extent 
that future cash flows and taxable income 
differ significantly from estimates, the ability 
of the Group to realise the net deferred tax 
assets recorded at the end of the reporting 
period could be impacted.

Revaluation of leasehold land and buildings
The fair value of leasehold land and buildings 
was determined based on the market 
comparable approach that reflect recent 
transaction prices for sumilar properties.The 
Trustees utilise independent professional 
valuers to minimise the level of estimation 
uncertainty.

aDopTIon oF neW anD RevISeD 
STanDaRDS
listed below are all the new accounting 
standards issued at 31 december 2015 and 
their date for adoption, which are applicable 
to the Group. 

Standards and amendments 
effective in 2015

The following applicable published standards 
are mandatory for accounting periods 
beginning on 1 January 2015:

Amendments to IAS 19 Defined Benefit Plans: 
Employee Contributions (effective annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2014)’
The amendment clarified that the 
discretionary contributions from employees 
or third parties to a defined plan. Such 
contributions made reduce services cost 
upon payment to the plan.
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aDopTIon oF neW anD RevISeD 
STanDaRDS (continued)

Standards and amendments 
effective in 2015 (continued)

Annual Improvements 2010-2012 Cycle 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2014)
makes amendments to ifRS 2, ifRS 3, ifRS 
8, ifRS 13, and iaS 16, iaS 24 and iaS 38.
Annual Improvements 2011-2013 Cycle 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2014)
makes amendments to ifRS 1, ifRS 3 and 
ifRS 13 and iaS 40.

other than improved disclosures and 
presentation, the adoption of these 
Standards and interpretations has not 
resulted in material changes to the Group’s 
financial results.

Standards and amendments to existing 
standards that are not yet effective and 
have not been early adopted by the Group.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: classification 
and measurement (effective annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).
amendment relates to classification and 
measurement requirements for financial 
instruments based on a combined business 
model and contractual cash flow test. 
entities may recognise changes in their own 
credit risk for fair valued financial liabilities 
in other comprehensive income. impairment 
methodology is now based on expected credit 
losses rather than incurred credit losses.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Hedge 
Accounting and amendments to IFRS 9, 
IFRS 7 and IAS 39) (effective annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).
introduces a new chapter to ifRS 9 on hedge 
accounting, putting in place a new hedge 
accounting model that is designed to be more 
closely aligned with how entities undertake 
risk management activities when hedging 
financial and non-financial risk exposures.

IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016).
ifRS 14 specifies the accounting for 
regulatory deferral account balances that 
arise from rate-regulated activities.
IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (effective annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018).
ifRS 15 provides a new model for the 
recognition and measurement of all revenue 
arising from contracts with customers. 
in principle, an entity will be required to 
recognise revenue amounts that reflect 
consideration an entity is entitled to in 
exchange for transferring goods or services 
to a customer. 

Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in 
Joint Operations (Amendments to IFRS 11) 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016).
amends ifRS 11 Joint arrangements to 
require an acquirer of an interest in a joint 
operation in which the activity constitutes a 
business.

Clarification of Acceptable Methods of 
Depreciation and Amortisation (Amendments 
to IAS 16 and IAS 38) (effective annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2016).
clarify that a depreciation method that is 
based on revenue that is generated by an 
activity that includes the use of an asset is 
not appropriate.

Equity Method in Separate Financial 
Statements (Amendments to IAS 27) 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016).
amends iaS 27 Separate financial 
Statements to permit investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates to 
be optionally accounted for using the equity 
method in separate financial statements.

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
(Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28) 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016).

amends ifRS 10 consolidated financial 
Statements and iaS 28 investments in 
associates and Joint Ventures (2011) 
to clarify the treatment of the sale or 
contribution of assets from an investor to its 
associate or joint venture.

Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 
IAS 28 Investment Entities: Applying the 
consolidation exception (effective annual 
period beginning on or after 1 January 
2016).
The amendment clarifies the exemption from 
preparing consolidated financial statements 
and is only available to a parent entity that is 
a subsidiary of an investment entity.

Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle 
(effective annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2016).
makes amendments to ifRS 5, ifRS 7, iaS 9 
and iaS 34.

The Group will evaluate the effect of all the 
new standards and amendments that are in 
issue for adoption in the applicable periods. 
The Group will initially adopt new standards 
and amendments during the periods in 
which they become effective and mandatory 
for adoption.
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

1 beneFITS paID          
 dental   22,094,395    18,697,448    22,094,395    18,697,448 
 hospital   159,722,498    143,185,256    159,722,498    143,185,256 
 consultation, drugs and rehabilitation   126,664,910    150,706,284    166,566,989    150,706,284 
 maternity   14,231,010    13,410,311    14,231,010    13,410,311 
 optical and appliances   10,317,092    9,163,749    10,317,092    9,163,749 
 funeral   5,724,402    1,685,000    5,724,402    1,685,000 
 emergency medical Services   -    827,286    8,246,516    8,269,113 
 chronic ailments   30,011,338    25,672,935    30,593,338    27,398,749 
 Special benefits  1.1  2,587,023    14,476,316    20,553,967    16,377,425 
 legal expenses   325,705    14,166    325,705    14,166 
 Severe illness benefit cover    6,498,527    6,409,894    6,498,527    6,470,708 
 ministry of health PPP costs    -    3,441,565    -     6,857,796 
 Wellness Program costs   1,974,840    1,899,005    2,134,161    2,166,937 
    380,151,740    389,589,215    447,008,600    404,402,942 
           
1.1 SpeCIaL beneFITS          
 drugs and laboratory tests    -    14,268,243   17,966,944   16,169,352 
 other costs   5,001,453   1,416,441   5,001,453   1,416,441 
 Staff salaries   -    1,559,302    -    1,559,302 
 Recoveries from members   (2,414,430)   (2,767,670)   (2,414,430)   (2,767,670)
 Net special benefits paid during the year   2,587,023   14,476,316   20,553,967   16,377,425 
           
2 opeRaTInG DeFICIT          
 The operating deficit is stated after taking 
 into account the following items:          
 audit fee - current year   913,300    837,000    339,200    320,000 
             - prior year   280,940    232,790    90,880    110,080 
 directors’ - fees   520,374    465,749    332,500    302,010 
               - remuneration            5,083,431    3,397,567    1,625,246    1,394,458 
 movement in allowance for doubtful debts  19,381,939    (551,532)   11,361,160    - 
 depreciation of property, plant and equipment  5,224,763    4,239,135    986,654    772,199 
 foreign exchange gain   (6,858)   (61,335)   (150,190)   (40,673)
 Profit/(loss) on disposal of plant and equipment  (6,858)   289,976    -    - 
 Staff costs      60,478,720    47,280,211    2,009,766    1,585,228 
 operating lease rent - property-cash basis  4,053,642    577,672    -    - 
 operating lease rent - property-operating lease liability movement 41,335    413,722    -    -   
         
3  InTeReST ReCeIveD          
 call deposits    79,708    273,153    32,728    149,827 
 Short term deposits   4,943,228   4,934,936    4,874,004    4,934,936 
     5,022,936    5,208,089    4,906,732    5,084,763 
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

           
4  FInanCe CoSTS         
 interest on obligations under finance leases   89,913    134,248    -    - 
 interest on bank loan    1,080,235    932,575    1,024    - 
 bank overdraft   116,867    48,681    -    - 
     1,287,015    1,115,504    1,024    -   
         
5  DIvIDenD ReCeIvabLe anD oTheR InCoMe          
 dividends received    4,752,731    4,373,536   4,752,731   5,308,408 
 liberty profit share - severe illness   1,247,486   1,411,653   1,247,486   1,411,653 
 Sundry income   1,109,406   3,218,079   171,470   48,713 
 Rental income    -     -    2,052,000   2,052,000 
 Profit on disposal of plant and equipment   6,858    -     -     -   
 Profit on redemption of investment   14,631,584    -    14,631,584   69,195 
    21,748,065   9,003,268   22,855,271   8,889,969 
           
6 TaxaTIon          
	 Company	tax	at	22%	(2014:	22%)	 	 	 	396,227			 	1,594,521			 	-				 	-			
 deferred tax movement    65,897    240,166    -     -   
     462,124    1,834,687    -     -   
 Tax reconciliation          
 deficit before taxation    (30,077,655 )  (8,238,922 )  (26,962,141 )  (10,079,722 )
           
	 Taxation	at	22%	(2014:	22%)	 	 	 	(6,617,084	)	 	(1,812,563	)	 	(5,931,671	)	 	(2,217,539	)
           
 income exempt from income tax   197,906   2,217,539    5,931,671    2,217,539 
 Unutilised assessed loss   2,157,016   205,672    -     -   
 expenses not deductible for tax   4,642,469   1,084,678    -     -   
 Prior year deferred tax overprovision   81,817   139,361    -     -   
 Taxation per statement of comprehensive income   462,124    1,834,687    -     -   
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 Leasehold    equipment      
 land &  Motor  furniture  plant &  Work-in  
 buildings  vehicles  & fittings  Machinery  progress  Total
 p  p  p  p  p  p

7  pRopeRTy, pLanT anD eQUIpMenT         

7.1 Consolidated
Cost/valuation
balance at 1 January 2014  37,296,318    6,855,727    9,844,139    12,079,548    14,284,250    80,359,982 
additions  171,616    1,479,173    24,685    4,292,110    2,474,170    8,441,754 
Transfers  16,450,373    -    -    -    (16,450,373 )  - 
disposals  -    -    (119,423 )  (195,897 )  -    (315,320 )
balance at 31 december 2014  53,918,307    8,334,900    9,749,401    16,175,761    308,047    88,486,416 
additions  1,202,643    474,724    1,427,376    2,609,184    666,808    6,380,735 
Revaluation decrease  (5,874,588 )  -    -    -    (157,200 )  (6,031,788 )
Transfers  -    -    61,612    -    (61,612 )  - 
disposals  -    (10,000 )  -    -    -    (10,000 )
balance at 31 december 2015  49,246,362    8,799,624    11,238,389    18,784,945    756,043    88,825,363 
            
Accumulated depreciation           
balance at 1 January 2014  7,576,681    4,059,257    7,854,665    5,932,429    -    25,423,032 
charge for the year  1,194,224    1,247,525    356,709    1,440,677    -    4,239,135 
disposals  -    -    (6,634 )  (18,708 )  -    (25,342 )
balance at 31 december 2014  8,770,905    5,306,782    8,204,740    7,354,398    -    29,636,825 
charge for the year  1,571,478    1,408,347    1,124,462    1,120,476    -    5,224,763 
eliminated on revaluation  (8,533,463 )  -    -    -    -    (8,533,463 )
impairment losses recognised  271,940    25,131    931,855    4,050,438    -    5,279,364 
disposals  -    (6,458 )  -    -    -    (6,458 )
balance at 31 december 2015  2,080,860    6,733,802    10,261,057    12,525,312    -    31,601,031 
            
Carrying amount           
at 31 december 2015  47,165,502    2,065,822    977,332    6,259,633    756,043    57,224,332 
            
at 31 december 2014  45,147,402    3,028,118    1,544,661    8,821,363    308,047    58,849,591 
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7  pRopeRTy, pLanT anD eQUIpMenT (continued)         

7.1 Consolidated
Cost/valuation
The Group revalues leasehold land and buildings every five years. The last revaluation was done for the year ended 31 december 2015. 
leasehold land and buildings comprise of the following:

� lot 50638 fairgrounds, Gaborone, measuring 4,386 square meters, which property is held under a deed of fixed Period State Grant
for 50 years commencing 4 february 1994. The leasehold land and buildings were independently valued at P22 230 000 by Real Reach 
Property Valuers on the open market value basis in 2015.

� lot 60601, block 7, Gaborone, measuring 1,1707 hectares, which property is held under a deed of fixed Period State Grant of 50
years commencing 27 November 2008. This property was independently valued by Knight frank botswana on the open market value 
basis 2015 at P20 100 000. The property is encumbered as per note 18.

� lot 20623 Gaborone West, extension 34, measuring 1 562 square metres, which property is held under a deed of fixed Period State
Grant of 50 years commencing 17 february 1999. This property was independently valued by mG Properties on the open market value 
basis in 2015 at P3 620 000. The property is encumbered as per note 18.

� Tribal lot 734, maun measuring 1,337 square metres held under a long-term lease agreement of 50 years commencing 15 october
1996. This property was independently valued on the open market value basis by Roscoe bonna Valuers, chartered Surveyors in 2015 
at P200 000.

The open market value basis is defined as the estimated amount for which the property could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a 
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing, wherein the parties each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without 
compulsion.

motor vehicles with a carrying amount of P1 764 093 (2014: P2 265 643), a printer with a carrying amount of P8 025 (2014: P14 896) 
and a radio system with a carrying amount of P50 039 (2014: P129 795) are encumbered per note 16.

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed by management at each reporting date, with the effect 
of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to the 
residual values and useful lives used in the current or prior periods.
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    Leasehold      
    land and  Fixtures  Computer  
    buildings  & fittings  equipment  Total
    p  p  p  p

7  pRopeRTy, pLanT anD eQUIpMenT (continued)         

7.2 Separate
Cost/valuation           
balance at 1 January 2014   29,114,962    -    8,301    29,123,263 
additions   18,112   90,365    -    108,477 
balance at 31 december 2014   29,133,074   90,365   8,301   29,231,740 
additions    -    35,100    30,600    65,700 
Revaluation decrease    (6,196,522 )  -    -    (6,196,522 )
balance at 31 december 2015    22,936,552    125,465    38,901    23,100,918 
          
Accumulated depreciation          
balance at 1 January 2014    6,249,179    -    173    6,249,352 
charge for the year    762,562    7,562    2,075    772,199 
balance at 31 december 2014    7,011,741    7,562    2,248    7,021,551 
charge for the year    967,042    11,648    7,964    986,654 
eliminated on revaluation    (7,669,078 )  -    -    (7,669,078 )
balance at 31 december 2015    309,705    19,210    10,212    339,127 
          
Carrying amount          
at 31 december 2015    22,626,847    106,255    28,689    22,761,791 
          
at 31 december 2014    22,121,333    82,803    6,053    22,210,189 

The leasehold land and buildings comprise lot 50638 fairgrounds, Gaborone, measuring 4,386 square meters, which property is held under 
a deed of fixed Period State Grant for 50 years commencing 4 february 1994. The leasehold land and buildings were independently valued 
at P22 230 000 by Real Reach Property Valuers on the open market value basis in 2015. 

The revaluation surplus was credited to the revaluation reserve. The open market value basis is defined as the estimated amount for which 
the property could be exchanged between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing, wherein 
the parties each acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. 

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation methods are reviewed by management at each reporting date, with the effect 
of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. The review did not highlight any requirement for an adjustment to the 
residual values and useful lives used in the current or prior periods.
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7  pRopeRTy, pLanT anD eQUIpMenT (continued)         

7.3 Operating lease commitments  
operating leases relate to three office facilities with lease terms of between 2 to 3 years, with an option to extend for a further year. Two 
of	the	three	operating	lease	contracts	contain	a	fixed	escalation	clause	of	10%		per	annum.	The	Group	does	not	have	an	option	to	purchase	
the leased asset at  the expiry of the lease period. The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
are as follows:

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

 Not later than 1 year   1,382,287   819,350      -   
 later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  4,857,517   1,529,941      -   
    6,239,804   2,349,291      -   

7.4 Capital commitments   
 There were no known capital commitments as at 31 december 2015.      

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

8  GooDWILL          
 balance at beginning of year   9,083,105   9,083,105    -     -   
 impairment loss recognised in the current year   (9,083,105 )  -     -     -   
 balance at end of year    -     9,083,105    -     -   

The	goodwill	arose	on	acquisition	of	MRI	Botswana	Limited	with	effect	from	11	July	2008	and	a	further	40%	acquired	on	12	February	2013	
at a value of P14.8 million. Goodwill was determined by comparing the fair value of the consideration paid to acquire the shareholding 
and the proportionate share of the estimated fair values of the company’s net assets. management’s assessment of goodwill impairment 
at year end indicated that goodwill was impaired. 

The recoverable amount of goodwill is determined based on the value in use calculation which uses cash flow projections of mRi botswana 
Limited	covering	a	five	year	period,	and	a	discount	rate	of	18%	per	annum	(2014:	20%	per	annum).	The	goodwill	has	been	impaired	as	the	
discounted future cash flows (recoverable amount) calculated based on the above assumptions were lower than the carrying value of the 
investment in subsidiary including goodwill.
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9  InveSTMenT In SUbSIDIaRIeS          

 Southview (Proprietary) Limited
    

The	Society	owns	100%	of	the	equity	shares	of	Southview	(Proprietary)	Limited.	The	Society	has	the	power	to	appoint	and	remove	the	board	
of directors of Southview (Proprietary) limited. The relevant activities of Southview (Proprietary) limited are determined by the board of 
directors of Southview (Proprietary) limited. Therefore, the Trustees of the Society concluded that the Society has control over Southview 
(Proprietary) limited and Southview (Proprietary) limited is consolidated in these financial statements.

The financial reporting period for Southview (Proprietary) limited is the same as that of the Society.

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

The investment in Southview is made up of the following:  

investment in ordinary shares    -     -     29,000,000    29,000,000 
impairment loss recognised in current year   -     -     (24,980,195 )  -   
carrying amount at year end    -     -     4,019,805    29,000,000 
          
loan advances    -     -     4,413,542    4,413,542 
          
Total investment in subsidiary    -     -     8,433,347    33,413,542 
          
Reconciliation of investments (Society) oRDInaRy ShaReS Loan aDvanCeS  
 
          
balance at beginning of year   29,000,000   29,000,000   4,413,542    28,744 
impairment loss recognised in current year   (24,980,195 )  -     -     -   
amount advanced to subsidiary    -     -     -     4,384,798 
balance at end of year    4,019,805    29,000,000    4,413,542    4,413,542 
          
Shares held in Southview (Proprietary) limited   29,000,000    29,000,000    -     -  

Southview (Proprietary) limited is a company incorporated in botswana.

a detailed impairment assessment performed by management at year end indicated that the investment in Southview (Proprietary) limited 
was partially impaired. The assessment was based on the five year estimated future cash flows of Southview (Proprietary) limited and 
Net asset Value.  
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

10 avaILabLe-FoR-SaLe InveSTMenTS
 At valuation         
          
 Available-for-sale listed investments - local         
          
 Onshore equity investments by asset manager         
 botswana medical aid Society - directly held   154,200    98,250,680    154,200    98,250,680 
 african alliance asset management    33,189,709    -     33,189,709    -   
 bifm asset management    18,519,030    -     18,519,030    -   
 fleming asset management    22,531,827    -     22,531,827    -   
     74,394,766    98,250,680    74,394,766    98,250,680 
          
 Onshore bonds by asset manager         
 african alliance asset management    5,937,565    -     5,937,565    -   
 bifm asset management    2,190,900    -     2,190,900    -   
 fleming asset management    10,878,046    -     10,878,046    -   
     19,006,511    -     19,006,511    -   
          
 Available for-sale-investments - offshore         
          
 african alliance - Global allocation fund    5,279,971    4,751,637    5,279,971    4,751,637 
 african alliance - Global income fund    7,176,654    6,407,192    7,176,654    6,407,192 
 bifm asset management - fixed interest fund   -     20,518    -     20,518 
 bifm asset management - offshore bonds    -     20,157,106    -     20,157,106 
 bifm asset management - offshore equities   16,574,066    53,039,335    16,574,066    53,039,335 
 bifm asset management - offshore money market   -     469,332    -     469,332 
 bifm asset management - pooled portfolios   3,051,226    -     3,051,226    -   
 fleming asset management - offshore equities   12,965,224    13,984,713    12,965,224    13,984,713 
 fleming asset management - offshore bonds   5,115,467    -     5,115,467    -   
     50,162,608    98,829,833    50,162,608    98,829,833 
          
 Total available-for-sale investments    143,563,885    197,080,513    143,563,885    197,080,513 
          
 Cash and short term money market investments         
 african alliance asset management    19,298,310    -     19,298,310    -   
 bifm asset management    21,699,672    -     21,699,672    -   
 fleming asset management    16,260,078    -     16,260,078    -   
     57,258,060    -     57,258,060    -   
          
 Total assets under asset managers    200,821,945    197,080,513    200,821,945    197,080,513 
          
 Reconciliation of assets by asset manager         
 botswana medical aid Society - directly held   154,200    98,250,680    154,200    98,250,680 
 african alliance asset management    70,882,209    11,158,829    70,882,209    11,158,829 
 bifm asset management    62,034,894    73,686,291    62,034,894    73,686,291 
 fleming asset management    67,750,642    13,984,713    67,750,642    13,984,713 
     200,821,945    197,080,513    200,821,945    197,080,513 
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

11 InvenToRIeS          
 Raw materials    1,770,526    406,749    -     -   
 Work-in-progress    1,121,931    780,973    -     -   
 Stock in transit    -    880,741    -     -   
 dispensary drugs, medicines and consumables   3,506,765    2,549,881    -     -   
     6,399,222    4,618,344    -     -   
 allowance for impairment - alpha access    (3,706,485 )  -    -     -   
     2,692,737    4,618,344    -     -   
           
 cost of inventories recognised as an expense    44,866,268    38,371,664    -    - 
           
12 TRaDe anD oTheR ReCeIvabLeS          
 Trade receivables     33,040,610    17,912,440   20,155,929  11,817,153
 less allowance for doubtful debts    (20,593,514 )  (1,211,575 )  (11,361,160 )  -   
     12,447,096    16,700,865    8,794,769    11,817,153 
 amounts due from related parties (note 26)   -    -    8,182,264    12,392,898 
 contributions    145,645    102,519   145,645   102,519 
 Wellness receivable    595,170    531,049    595,170    531,049 
 other receivables    8,578,898    3,978,880    6,252,032    2,074,339 
 VaT receivable    556,435    -    -     -   
     22,323,244    21,313,313    23,969,880    26,917,958 

13 ShoRT-TeRM InveSTMenTS          
 african alliance     2,131    2,012    2,131    2,012 
 botswana building Society indefinite Period          
 
 Paid-Up Shares    72,498,863    70,078,927    72,498,863    70,078,927 
     72,500,994    70,080,939    72,500,994    70,080,939

The botswana building Society indefinite Period Paid-Up Shares are only redeemable at the option of the botswana building Society by 
giving	Botswana	Medical	Aid	Society	a	notice	period	of	six	(6)	months.	The	shares	earn	an	annual	investment	income	of	7%	(2014:	8%).

 

14 CaSh anD CaSh eQUIvaLenTS           
 cash and bank balances    91,315,941   26,369,495  80,418,593  17,906,120
    - held by entities within the Group   34,057,881  26,369,495  23,160,533  17,906,120
    - held by asset managers - (Note 10)   57,258,060   -    57,258,060   -   
 bank overdraft    (633,275 )  (1,761,506 )  -     -   
 outstanding cheques for claims    (9,500,162 )  (9,897,215 )  (9,500,162 )  (9,897,215 )
    81,182,504  14,710,774  70,918,431  8,008,905

cash and bank balances comprise cash and deposits with financial institutions which are payable on demand. 

These amounts are un-presented cheques in respect of benefits claims paid, which had not been cleared by the bankers at the reporting 
date. The majority of these payments cleared subsequent to the reporting date.

The Group has an overdraft facility at bancabc botswana limited of P1,500,000.
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

15 RevaLUaTIon ReSeRveS

Available for sale revaluation reserve           
balance at beginning of year    172,179,243  169,459,904  172,179,243  169,459,904
Net fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets  19,894,954  2,719,339  19,894,954  2,719,339
Reclassification adjustments for available-for-sale         
financial assets disposed during the year    (11,439,076 )  -     (11,439,076 )  -   
balance at end of year   180,635,121  172,179,243  180,635,121  172,179,243
          
Property revaluation          
balance at beginning of year   18,435,762  18,435,762  18,435,762  18,435,762
increase arising on revaluation of properties  2,501,675   -    1,472,556   -   
less transfer to non-controlling interests    (336,080 )  -     -     -   
balance at  end of year   20,601,357  18,435,762  19,908,318  18,435,762
          
Total revaluation reserves at end of year   201,236,478  190,615,005  200,543,439  190,615,005

The investments revaluation reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available for sale financial 
assets that have  been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those assets have 
been disposed off or determined to be impaired. 

The properties revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of land and buildings. When revalued land or buildings are sold, the portion 
of the properties revaluation reserve that relates to that asset is transferred directly to retained earnings. items of other comprehensive 
income included in the properties revaluation reserve will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss. distributions from the properties 
revaluation reserve can be made where they are in accordance with the requirements of the company’s constitution. amounts may also be 
effectively distributed out of the properties revaluation reserve as part of a share buy-back. Generally, there is no restriction on the payment 
of ‘bonus shares’ out of the properties revaluation reserve. however, the payment of cash distributions out of the reserve is restricted by 
the terms of the company’s constitution. These restrictions do not apply to any amounts transferred to retained profits. The directors do 
not currently intend to make any distribution from the properties revaluation reserve.
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16 FInanCe LeaSe obLIGaTIonS          
 

The Group leased certain of its motor vehicles and radio equipment under finance leases. The average lease term is 3 years (2014: 3 years) 
for motor vehicles and 5 years (2014: 5 year) for radio equipment. The Group has options to purchase the equipment for a nominal amount 
at the end of the lease terms. The Group’s obligations under finance leases are secured by the lessors’ title to the leased assets. lease 
liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets revert to the  lessor in the event of default.

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Gross finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments:         
Not later than 1 year     525,080    714,833    -    - 
later than 1 year but not more than 5 years    377,120    479,446    -    - 
    902,200    1,194,279    -    - 
future finance charges on the finance lease liabilities    (67,215 )  (102,810 )  -    - 
Present value of the finance lease liabilities    834,985    1,091,469    -    - 
          
The present value of the finance lease liabilities          
Not later than 1 year     472,920    655,772    -    - 
later than 1 year but not more than 5 years    362,065    435,697    -    - 
    834,985    1,091,469    -    -

annual interest on finance lease liabilities is charged at the botswana prime lending rate for motor vehicles and radio system (currently 
7.5%	per	annum)	(2014:	9%)	and	the	Botswana	prime	lending	rate	plus	2%	(currently	9.5%	per	annum)	(2014:	11%)	on	the	printer.	The	
finances leases are secured over the motor vehicles and radio system which were financed at a cost of P1 581 116 (2014: P2 265 643), 
P285 846(2014: P285 846) respectively.

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

17 banK LoanS 
Unsecured (i)    29,415    151,614    -    - 
Secured (ii)    1,941,174    2,968,894    -    - 
balance at end of year   1 970 589   3 120 508   -   - 
          
Not later than 1 year    966,648    1,253,673    -    - 
later than 1 year but not later than 5 years   1,003,941    1,866,835    -    - 
    1,970,589    3,120,508    -    -

(i)	 Interest	on	the	bank	loan	is	charged	at	the	Botswana	prime	lending	rate	(currently	7.5	%	per	annum)	2014:	9%).	The	bank	loan	is
 unsecured and is repayable over a five year period in monthly instalments commencing 1 april 2011.
(ii)	 The	loan	bears	interest	at	the	Botswana	prime	lending	rate	less	0.5%	currently	7.5%	per	annum	(2014:	8.5%)	and	is	repayable	in	

48 monthly instalments 31 march 2014. The bank loan is secured with other banking facilities (Per note 14) by a deed of hypothecation 
of P5.1 million over movable assets, inventory (Per note 11) and receivable (Per note 12). in addition an unlimited guarantee was 
obtained from Southview (Proprietary) limited together with cession of insurance policy covering hypothecated assets.

Southview (Proprietary) limited is the holding company of alpha access (Proprietary) limited.
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

18 pRopeRTy DeveLopMenT LoanS 

Term loan (i)    9,750,329   10 175 406    -     -   
commercial loan (ii)    7,257,107   -    -     -   
    17,007,436    10,175,406    -     -   
          
Movement in loan balances          
balance at beginning of year    10,175,406    10,521,000    -     -   
disbursements during the year    7,360,000    -     -     -   
capitalised interest    794,680    934,938    -     -   
Repayments in current year   (1 322 650 ) (1 280 532 )  -     -   
balance at end of year   17 007 436   10 175 406   -   - 

Not later than 1 year   1 641 496    510 091   -   - 
   15 365 940   9 665 315   -   - 
later than 1 year but not later than 5 years  8 909 987   4 159 869   -   - 
more than 5 years   6 455 953   5 505 446   -   - 
    17,007,436    10,175,406    -    - 

(i) The company developed a fit-for-purpose office building on lot 60601, block 7, at a cost of  P16.5 million. P10.5 million of the total
development cost was to be financed through financial institutions with the remaining balance financed through cash flows from 
operating activities.

Interest	is	charged	at	the	Botswana	prime	lending	rate	(currently	7.5%	per	annum)	(2014:	9%	per	annum).	

The loan is repayable over a fifteen (15) year period and instalments of P97 356 are paid monthly.

(ii) in the current year, the company obtained a bank loan amounting to P7.36 million which was used as follows:
� P3.7 million was used to set up a Prime health Pharmacy and Prime health General Practice at delta medical centre in maun.
�	P2.6 million was used to set up Prime health General Practice and Prime health Pharmacy in Kasane.
�	P1.06 million was used to set up Prime health Travel clinic at Sir Seretse Khama airport.

The loan is payables over 60 months at equal instalments of about P154 574 commencing in december 2015.

Interest	is	charged	at	the	Botswana	Prime	Plus	2%	(Prime	is	currently	7.5%).

bank Gaborone limited (“the bank”) has the following securities against the loan:

� a first covering mortgage bond for P9.21 million over Plot 60601, block 7, Gaborone. 
� a second covering mortgage bond for P5.8 million over Plot 60601, block 7, Gaborone. 
� Registered cession of fire Policy of P22 million during development of the fit-for-purpose office building. 
� a first covering mortgage bond for P4.3 million over Plot 20623 in block 3, Gaborone 
� Registered cession of fire Policy for P8.18 million.

on completion of the construction of the office building, the bond over Plot 20623, block 3, Gaborone will be released only if the bond over 
lot 60601 adequately covers the bank’s exposure.
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

19 DeFeRReD TaxaTIon   

balance at beginning of year     (1,331,369 )  (1,091,203 )  -     -   
movement per statement of comprehensive income   (65,897 )  (240,166 )  -     -   
balance at end of year    (1,397,266 )  (1,331,369 )  -     -   
          
Analysis of deferred taxation          
depreciation on plant and equipment    (1,397,266 )  (1,306,155 )  -     -   
fair valuation of subsidiary land and buildings   -     (25,214 )  -     -   
    (1,397,266 )  (1,331,369 )  -     -   
          

 
20 DeFeRReD RenTaL LIabILITy          
 

movement per statement comprehensive income    41,335    413,722    -    - 

The operating lease accrual reverses as follows:        
- Within 3 to 5 years    155,945    114,610    -    -

21 TRaDe anD oTheR payabLeS           
 

Trade payables    12,490,824    8,427,155    -    - 
Staff related accruals     11,835,484    6,670,861    363,313    417,737 
accruals and other creditors    11,771,599    7,031,933    6,104,781    3,360,997 
Value added tax payable    -     664,869    -    - 
amounts due to related parties (note 26)    -     -     1,991,124    17,246,758 
    36,097,907    22,794,818    8,459,218    21,025,492

Staff related accruals comprise of accruals for employee benefits which include annual leave entitlements and gratuity for employees on 
contracts. 

22 SUbSCRIpTIonS ReCeIveD In aDvanCe   611,492    961,071    611,492    961,071 
         
These are amounts received from members during the current year which relate to the following financial year. These amounts were 
classified as current liabilities as the benefits in respect thereof are expected to be utilised during the subsequent financial year.   
        
 

23 oUTSTanDInG CLaIMS     42,581,264    37,008,294    51,399,954    37,008,294 

          
This balance represents the fair value of claims which were due and payable as at year end. The obligation approximates the total value 
of claims which were paid subsequent to the reporting date within the four month period in accordance with the Society’s rules.
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24 FIDeLITy CoveR           
 

in accordance with the rules of the Society, fidelity cover of P2 000 000 (2014: P2 000 000) has been procured.                 
           
 

25 ConTInGenT LIabILITIeS           
 

There were no known contingencies as at 31 december 2015.
           
 

26 ReLaTeD paRTIeS          
 

Related party transactions include all transactions between the Society and entities under common ownership or control and the 
remunerations to the board and key members of management. intercompany transactions are at group agreed prices and services are on 
a cost-plus basis.

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Remuneration to key members of management
Short-term benefits    13,604,769    9,008,310    1,710,383    1,471,593 
Post-employment benefits   3,590,857  2,526,216  247,363  224,875
    17,195,626    11,534,526    1,957,746    1,696,468 
          
The above benefits are comprised the following:          
 
directors’ fees     520,374    465,749    332,500    302,010 
directors’ remuneration    5,083,431    3,397,567    -    - 
compensation to key members of management   11,591,821    7,671,210    1,625,246    1,394,458 
    17,195,626    11,534,526    1,957,746    1,696,468

The following are the related entities to botswana medical aid Society:         
 
Entity  Relationship      
Southview (Proprietary) limited Subsidiary of botswana medical aid Society   
mRi botswana limited Subsidiary of Southview (Proprietary) limited   
alpha access (Proprietary) limited Subsidiary of Southview (Proprietary) limited   
North by West (Proprietary) limited Subsidiary of mRi botswana limited     
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 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

26 ReLaTeD paRTIeS (continued) 

Related party transactions and balances   
Payments by botswana medical aid Society to     
mRi botswana limited for services rendered:         
Special benefit fund    -    -    17,966,945    1,901,109 
Pharmacy revenue    -    -    39,902,079    -   
medical rescue services    -    -    8,246,516    7,441,827 
disease management services      -    -    -    472,162 
call centre    -    -    -    455,343 
counselling services    -    -    582,000    508,875 
Well @ Work programme    -    -    159,321    267,932 
    -    -    66,856,861    11,047,248 
          
Payments by botswana medical aid Society to         
Southview (Proprietary) limited for services rendered:        
- fund administration fees    -    -    41,331,499   40,613,547
- dispensing fees    -    -    -    3,118,048
- Rent    -    -    (2,052,000 )  (2,052,000 )
- management fees    -    -    -    3,004,882
- Wellness program    -    -    209,932   231,121
    -    -   39,489,431  44,915,598
          
These include payments by mRi botswana          
limited to botswana medical aid Society for services rendered:         
employee subscriptions for medical aid    -    -    1,316,826    1,382,990 
          
Year end balances arising from the rendering of services:         
Southview (Proprietary) limited          
- payable    -    -    (448,706 )  (15,002,885 )
mRi botswana limited - payable    -    -    (1,542,418 )  (2,243,873 )
amounts due to related parties (note 21)    -    -    (1,991,124 )  (17,246,758 )
          
Southview (Proprietary) limited - receivable   -    -    7,171,196    9,971,267 
mRi botswana limited - receivable    -    -    1,011,068    2,421,631 
Net receivable - alpha access (Proprietary) limited   -    -    -    - 
  alpha access (Proprietary) limited - receivable   -     -     1,038,827    -   
  less allowance for doubtful debts    -     -     (1,038,827 )  -   
amounts due from related parties (note 12)     -    8,182,264    12,392,898 
          
amounts due to and from related parties are interest free, unsecured and without any fixed repayment terms.     
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27 FInanCIaL InSTRUMenTS            
 

exposure to interest rate, foreign exchange, credit and liquidity risk occurs in the normal course of the Group’s business. each of these 
financial risks are described below together with a summary of the ways in which the Group manages these risks.     
       
Market risk           
fluctuation in interest rates impact on the value of short-term cash investments, giving rise to price risk.  other than ensuring optimum 
money market rates for deposits, the Group does not make use of financial instruments to manage this risk.     
       

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Interest rate risk    
financial instruments subject to interest rate risk are as follows:    
finance lease obligations    (834,985 )  (1,091,469 )  -     -   
bank loan     (1,970,589 )  (3,120,508 )  -     -   
Property development loans    (17,007,436 )  (10,175,406 )  -     -   
bonds    24,121,978    -     24,121,978    -   
Short term investments    72,500,994   70,080,939   72,500,994   70,080,939 
offshore cash and cash equivalents    57,258,060    -    57,258,060   -   
call accounts and money market funds    19,533,361  15,388,909  19,533,361  15,388,909
   153,601,383  71,082,465  173,414,393  85,469,848
 
The Group invests with reputable institutions and is subjected to normal interest rate risk. The effective annual interest rates on the 
financial instruments noted above are as follows:          
  
Rand	call	accounts	 	 	 1.75%		 1.75%		 1.75%		 1.00%
Pula	call	accounts	 	 	 1.00%		 1.00%		 1.00%		 1.00%
GBP	call	accounts	 	 	 0.00%		 1.25%		 0.00%		 1.25%
Finance	lease	liabilities	(motor	and	radio	system)	 	 10.00%		 9.00%		 	-			 	-	
Finance	lease	liabilities	(printer)	 	 	 7.50%		 11.00%		 	-			 	-	
Bank	loan	 	 	 7.50%		 9.00%		 	-			 	-	
Property	development	loan	 	 	 7.50%		 9.00%		 	-			 	-	
African	Alliance	 	 	 6.48%		 4.88%		 6.48%		 4.88%
botswana building Society indefinite Period          
	Paid-Up	Shares	 	 	 7.00%		 8.00%		 7.00%		 8.00%
           
The following are the Pula equivalent amounts that were held by the Group in its call accounts:       
     
   Gbp  pula  Rand  Total 
2015 call deposits    425,016    19,108,345    -     19,533,361 

2014 call deposits    218,246    15,103,244    67,419    15,388,909 
           
The following are the Pula equivalent amounts that were held 
by the Society in its call accounts:           
 
2015 call deposits    425,016    19,108,345    -     19,533,361 

2014 call deposits    218,246    15,103,244    67,419    15,388,909 
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27 FInanCIaL InSTRUMenTS (continued)            
 

Maturity analysis for short term investments  Interest rate Maturity date pula
    
2014    
African	Alliance		 6.48%	 Thursday	31	March	16	 2,131	
Botswana	Building	Society	Indefinite	Period	Paid-Up	Shares	 7.00%	 Thursday	30	June	16	 72,498,863	
   72,500,994 
2014    
African	Alliance	 4.88%	 Tuesday	31	March	15	 	2,012	
Botswana	Building	Society	Indefinite	Period	Paid-Up	Shares	 8.00%	 Tuesday	30	June	15	 	70,078,927	
   70,080,939  
         
Sensitivity to interest rate movement         
a change of 50 basis points in interest rates during the reporting period would have increased/(decreased) the surplus by an equal 
amount in either direction, as shown below:          
 
       principal  effect on
   Current rate  new rate  amount  the surplus
       p  p

Consolidated 2015          
Finance	lease	liabilities	(motor	&	radio	system)	 	 10.00%		 10.50%		 	834,985			 	4,175	
Bank	loan	 	 	 7.50%		 8.00%		 	1,970,589			 	9,853	
Property	development	loan	 	 	 7.50%		 8.00%		 	17,007,436			 	85,037	
Net decrease in surplus          99,065 
          
Short term investments          
African	Alliance		 	 	 6.48%		 6.98%		 	2,131			 	11	
botswana building Society indefinite Period           
		Paid-Up	Shares	 	 	 7.00%		 7.50%		 	72,498,863			 	362,494	
Call	and	short	term	deposit	funds	 	 	 1.00%		 1.50%		 	15,388,909			 	76,945	
Net increase in surplus          439,450 
          
Consolidated 2014          
Finance	lease	liabilities	(motor	&	radio	system)	 	 9.00%		 9.50%		 	1,091,469			 	5,457	
Bank	loan	 	 	 9.00%		 9.50%		 	3,120,508			 	15,603	
Property	development	loan	 	 	 9.00%		 9.50%		 	10,175,406			 	50,877	
Net decrease in surplus          71,937 
          
Short term investments          
African	Alliance		 	 	 4.88%		 5.38%		 	2,012			 	10	
botswana building Society indefinite Period           
		Paid-Up	Shares	 	 	 8.00%		 8.50%		 	70,078,927			 	350,395	
Call	and	short	term	deposit	funds	 	 	 1.00%		 1.50%		 	15,388,909			 	76,945	
Net increase in surplus          427,350   
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       principal  effect on
   Current rate  new rate  amount  the surplus
       p  p

Separate 2015          
African	Alliance		 	 	 6.48%		 6.98%		 	2,131			 	11	
botswana building Society indefinite Period          
		Paid-Up	Shares	 	 	 7.00%		 7.50%		 	72,498,863			 	362,494	
Call	and	short	term	deposit	funds	 	 	 1.00%		 1.50%		 	19,533,361			 	97,667	
Net increase in surplus          460,172

Separate 2014
African	Alliance		 	 	 4.88%		 5.38%		 	2,012			 	10	
botswana building Society indefinite Period           
Paid-Up	Shares	 	 	 8.00%		 8.50%		 	70,078,927			 	350,395	
Call	and	short	term	deposit	funds	 	 	 1.00%		 1.50%		 	15,388,909			 	76,945	
Net increase in surplus          427,350

Credit risk
credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to the financial instrument fails to meet its obligation.

Reputable financial institutions are used for investing and cash handling purposes. all money market instruments and cash equivalents 
are placed with financial institutions registered in botswana or South africa. banks in botswana are not rated however each of the banks 
concerned are subsidiaries of major South african or United Kingdom registered institutions.

The Group does not hold collateral as security in respect of its financial assets and the maximum credit exposure as at the reporting date 
is equal to the carrying amounts of the following financial assets (which approximate their fair values):

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Trade and other receivables     21,766,809    21,313,313    23,969,880    26,917,958 
cash and cash equivalents     81,182,504    14,710,774    70,918,431    8,008,905 
Short-term investments    72,500,994    72,500,994    72,500,994    70,078,927 
investments - (onshore bonds)    19,006,511    -    19,006,511    - 
investments (offshore bonds)    8,166,693    20,646,956    8,166,693    20,646,956 
    202,623,511    129,172,037    194,562,509    125,652,746
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Total medical aid subscriptions included in trade receivables at year-end were P8,794,770 (2014: P11,817,153).

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment which represents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receivables. The 
main component of this allowance consists of a specific loss component based on balances exceeding agreed upon credit terms.

as at year end, Group trade receivables of P18,906,582 (2014: P21,313 313) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of 
independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

 CONSOLiDATED SEPArATE   
    2015  2014   2015   2014
    p  p   p   p

Up to 2 months    8,794,770  11,817,153   8,794,770    11,817,153 
2 to 3 months   5,885,022  522,669   -     -   
3 to 4 months    1,544,529  795,199   -     -   
over 4 months    2,682,261  606,717   -     -   
   18,906,582  13,741,738  8,794,770  11,817,153
          
The Group has no concentration of credit risk with 
outstanding balances due from a large number of 
customers located in botswana. 

movement for the provision for impairment         
balance at beginning of year    1,211,575    1,590,519    -     -   
Provision for receivables impairment    19,381,939    172,588    11,361,160    -   
movement in allowance for impairment    -     (551,532 )  -     -   
balance at end of year    20,593,514    1,211,575    11,361,160    -

Liquidity risk         
The Group is exposed to daily operational payments and payment of claims, trade and other payable balances, finance lease obligations 
and borrowings.         
         
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, excluding estimated interest payments and the impact of netting 
agreements:           
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      Carrying     6 months 
     amount  Contractual  or less
     p  p  p

Consolidated 2015 
Trade and other payables       (36,097,907 )  (36,097,907 )  (36,097,907 )
finance lease obligations      (834,985 )  (902,200 )  (188,560 )
bank loan      (1,970,589 )  (1,970,589 )  (483,324 )
Property development loan      (17,007,436 )  (24,574,274 )  (820,748 )
outstanding cheques for claims       (9,500,162 )  (9,500,162 )  (9,500,162 )
outstanding claims       (42,581,264 )  (42,581,264 )  (42,581,264 )
bank overdraft      633,275    633,275    633,275 
      (107,359,068 )  (114,993,121 ) (89 038 690 )
Consolidated 2014         
Trade and other payables       (22,794,818 )  (22,794,818 )  (22,794,818 )
finance lease obligations      (1,091,469 )  (1,091,469 )  (327,886 )
bank loan      (3,120,508 )  (3,120,508 )  (626,837 )
Property development loan      (10,175,406 )  (10,175,406 )  (255,046 )
outstanding cheques for claims       (9,897,215 )  (9,897,215 )  (9,897,215 )
outstanding claims       (37,008,294 )  (37,008,294 )  (37,008,294 )
bank overdraft      (1,761,506 )  (1,761,506 )  (1,761,506 )
      (84,087,710 )  (85,849,216 )  (70,910,096 )
Separate 2015         
Trade and other payables       (8,459,218 )  (21,025,492 )  (21,025,492 )
outstanding cheques for claims       (9,500,162 )  (9,500,162 )  (9,500,162 )
outstanding claims       (42,581,264 )  (42,581,264 )  (42,581,264 )
      (60,540,644 )  (73,106,918 )  (73,106,918 )
Separate 2014         
Trade and other payables       (21,025,492 )  (21,025,492 )  (21,025,492 )
outstanding cheques for claims       (9,897,215 )  (9,897,215 )  (9,897,215 )
Provisions for outstanding claims       (37,008,294 )  (37,008,294 )  (37,008,294 )
      (67,931,001 )  (67,931,001 )  (67,931,001 )

exposure to currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk for transactions that are denominated in a currency other than Pula.

The Group does not take cover on foreign currency as it regards the Pula as a stable currency.
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The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk based on notional amounts is analysed as follows:       
  
         pula
2015     Gbp  Rand  equivalent

cash and cash equivalents      25,973   -    425,016
         
     Gbp/bWp  ZaR/bWp  

Year-end translation rate – buy     16.364   1.424   
Year-end translation rate – Sell     16.952   1.344   
         
2014         
cash and cash equivalents      15,001  84,510  285,665
         
     Gbp/bWp  ZaR/bWp  

Year-end translation rate – buy     14.549  1.254  
Year-end translation rate – Sell     15.045  1.199 

a 10 percent strengthening of the botswana Pula against these currencies at year-end would have decreased the Group and Society’s 
surplus for the year by the amounts shown below. 

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. 

The analysis is performed on the same basis for 2014.
 
         Surplus for 
         the year

2015          (42,502)
2014          (28,567)

A	10%	weakening	of	the	Pula	against	the	above	currencies	at	year	end	would	have	had	the	equal	but	opposite	effect	on	the	Group	and	the	
Society’s and surplus for the period to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.  
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price risk
The Group has investments in equity funds and equity instruments listed on the botswana Stock exchange. These investments are 
classified as available for sale. 

fluctuations in the share prices impact on the value of the investments, giving rise to price risk. 

The Group does not take out financial instruments to manage this risk as fluctuations are normal in the short term. The share prices are 
expected to stabilise over the long term. 

as at year-end, the fair value of the equity instruments were as follows:

         Surplus for 
         the year

fair value 2015          103,934,056 
         
fair value 2014          165,274,728 
         
A	10%	movement	in	the	above	stated	fair	values	at	year	end	would	result	in	the	
following gains or losses of equal amount:         
         
2015          10,393,406 
         
2014          16,527,473 
         
These gains or losses are allocated directly to equity, through other comprehensive income.       
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Categorisation of assets and liabilities (Consolidated)  

 FInanCIaL aSSeTS anD LIabILITIeS 

    Financial other non-
  available-for-  liabilities at financial
 Carrying sale financial Loans and amortised assets and
 amount assets receivables cost liabilities
 p p p p p

2015
Assets     
Property, plant and equipment 57,224,332   -     -     -     57,224,332 
Goodwill  -     -     -     -     - 
available for sale investments  143,563,885   143,563,885   -   -   - 
inventories  2,692,737   -     -   -   2,692,737 
Trade and other receivables  22,323,244   -     21,766,809   -   556,435 
Short term investments  72,500,994   -     72,500,994   -   - 
cash and cash equivalents  91,315,941   -     91,315,941   -   - 
Tax receivable  3,042,953   -     -   -   3,042,953 
  392,664,086   143,563,885   185,583,744   -   63,516,457 
     
Liabilities     
finance lease obligations  834,985   -   -   834,985   - 
bank loan  1,970,589   -   -   1,970,589   - 
Property development loan  17,007,436   -   -   17,007,436   - 
deferred rental liability   155,945   -   -   -   155,945 
deferred taxation  1,397,266   -   -   -   1,397,266 
Trade and other payables  36,097,907   -   -   24,262,423   11,835,484 
Subscriptions received in advance  611,492    -   -   611,492 
outstanding cheques for claims  9,500,162   -   -   9,500,162   - 
outstanding claims  42,581,264   -   -   42,581,264   - 
bank overdraft  633,275   -   -   633,275   - 
  110,790,321   -   -   96,790,134   14,000,187 

85



noTeS To The FInanCIaL STaTeMenTS (continued)
31 December 2015  

27 FInanCIaL InSTRUMenTS (continued)       
     

Categorisation of assets and liabilities (Consolidated)  

 FInanCIaL aSSeTS anD LIabILITIeS 

    Financial other non-
  available-for-  liabilities at financial
 Carrying sale financial Loans and amortised assets and
 amount assets receivables cost liabilities
 p p p p p

2014     
Assets     
Property, plant and equipment  58,849,591   -     -     -     58,849,591 
Goodwill  9,083,105   -     -     -     9,083,105 
available for sale investments  197,080,513   197,080,513   -     -     -   
inventories  4,618,344   -     -     -     4,618,344 
Trade and other receivables  21,313,313   -     21,313,313   -     -   
Short term investments  70,080,939   -     70,080,939   -     -   
cash and cash equivalents  26,369,495   -     26,369,495   -     -   
Tax receivable  2,324,505   -     -     -     2,324,505 
  389,719,805   197,080,513   117,763,747   -   74,875,545 
     
Liabilities     
finance lease obligations   1,091,469   -   -   1,091,469   - 
bank loan  3,120,508   -   -   3,120,508   - 
Property development loan  10,175,406   -   -   10,175,406   - 
Trade and other payables  22,794,818   -   -   15,459,088   7,335,730 
Subscriptions received in advance  961,071   -   -   -   961,071 
outstanding cheques for claims  9,500,162   -   -   9,897,215   - 
outstanding claims  37,008,294   -   -   37,008,294   - 
bank overdraft  1,761,506     1,761,506  
  86,413,234   -   -   78,513,486   8,296,801 
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Categorisation of assets and liabilities (Separate)  

 FInanCIaL aSSeTS anD LIabILITIeS 

    Financial other non-
  available-for-  liabilities at financial
 Carrying sale financial Loans and amortised assets and
 amount assets receivables cost liabilities
 p p p p p

2015
Assets     
Property, plant and equipment  22,761,791   -   -   -   22,761,791 
investment in subsidiaries  8,433,347   -   4,413,542   -   4,019,805 
available for sale investments  143,563,885   143,563,885   -   -   - 
Trade receivables  23,969,880   -     23,969,880   -   - 
Short term investments  72,500,994   -     72,500,994   -   - 
cash and cash equivalents  80,418,593   -     80,418,593   -   - 
  351,648,490   143,563,885   181,303,009   -     26,781,596 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables  8,459,218   -   -   8,095,905   - 
Subscriptions received in advance  611,492   -   -   -   611,492 
outstanding cheques for claims  9,500,162   -   -   9,500,162   - 
outstanding claims  51,399,954   -   -   51,399,954   - 
  69,970,826   -   -   68,996,021   611,492 
      
2014      
Assets      
Property, plant and equipment  22,210,189   -   -   -   22,210,189 
investment in subsidiaries  33,413,542   -   4,413,542   -   29,000,000 
available for sale investments  197,080,513   197,080,513   -   -   - 
Trade receivables  26,917,958   -   26,917,958   -   - 
Short term investments  70,080,939   -   72,500,994   -   - 
cash and cash equivalents  17,906,120   -   17,906,120   -   - 
  367,609,261   197,080,513   121,738,614   -   51,210,189 
      
Liabilities      
Trade and other payables  21,025,492   -   -   20,607,755   - 
Subscriptions received in advance  961,071   -   -   -   961,071 
outstanding cheques for claims  9,897,215   -   -   9,897,215   - 
outstanding claims  37,008,294   -   -   37,008,294   - 
  68,892,072   -   -   67,513,264   961,071 
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Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

  
This note provides information about how the Group determines the fair values of the various financial assets.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information 
about the fair values at the end of each reporting period. The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial 
assets are determined (in particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Consolidated and Separate 

Financial assets                           fair value as at     Relationship of
     Significant unobservable
 2015 2014 fair value Valuation technique(s) unobservable inputs to fair  
 p p hierarchy and key input(s) input(s) value  
      
onshore listed equities  74,394,766   98,250,680  level 1 Quoted last traded prices in N/a N/a 
    an active market 
onshore listed bonds  19,006,511   -    level 1 Quoted last traded prices in  N/a N/a
    an active market 
offshore listed equities  29,539,290   67,024,048  level 1 Quoted bid prices in an  N/a N/a
    active market 
offshore listed bonds  5,115,467   20,157,106  level 1 Quoted bid prices in an  N/a N/a
    active market 
other offshore  15,507,851   11,648,679  level 2 Weighted average price for  N/a N/a
pooled/unitised funds    units held in portfolio. 
    fair value of underlying assets 
    in portfolio is determined 
    using quoted bid prices in 
    an active market. 
Total  143,563,885   197,080,513  

There were no transfers between level 1 and 2 in the current year.     
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Fair values 
financial instruments carried at fair value are categorised in three levels by valuation method. The different levels have been defined as 
follows:     
 
 level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;    
  
 level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) 
or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and     
 
 level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).   
   

      
28 ReTIReMenT beneFITS     
 

 The Group contributes to the following defined contribution pension plans:     
 
 botswana medical aid Pension fund which is held independent of the Group and is administered by aon botswana (Proprietary) limited. 
     
 Sentlhaga Pension fund which is held independent of the Group and is administered by aon botswana (Proprietary) limited.  
    
Retirement benefits are expensed in the profit or loss.     
 

      
29 evenTS aFTeR The RepoRTInG DaTe     
 

 The board is not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year, not dealt with in this report or these 
financial statements which would have a material impact on the financial results or operations of the Group.

89



MEDICAL 
COVER 
SOLUTIONSPROGRESSIVE



Gaborone

P. O. Box 632, Gaborone, Botswana

Plot 50638, Fairgrounds, Gaborone, Botswana 

Tel: +267 31 84 210

Fascimile: +267 31 84 230, +267 31 84 152

Francistown Branch

Plot 21931 / 21932, Tebo House (Groundfloor)

Tel: +267 24 10 316

Facsimile: +267 24 10 341 

T
D
G


